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Finalists and winners of the 2012 GWN7 Western Australian Regional Small Business Awards.
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Statement of Compliance 
 
For the year ended 30 June 2013 
 
 
 
 
 
HON JOE FRANCIS, MLA 
 
MINISTER FOR SMALL BUSINESS  
 
 
 
 
In accordance with section 63 of the Financial Management Act 2006, we hereby 
submit for your information and presentation to Parliament, the Annual Report of the 
Small Business Development Corporation for the financial year ended 30 June 2013. 
 
The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the 
Financial Management Act 2006. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ray Mountney        
Chairman      
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Statement of Compliance 
for the year ended 30 June 2013
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Overview of agency
About the SBDC
The Small Business Development Corporation 
(SBDC) is an independent statutory authority, 
established in 1984 under the Small Business 
Development Corporation Act 1983.

What we do
The primary role of the SBDC is to encourage, 
facilitate and assist the establishment, growth 
and development of small business in Western 
Australia. 

This is achieved by providing advice and 
guidance, as well as education and skill 
development programs, to small business 
owners. 

The SBDC works directly with small business 
operators and liaisers with industry and 
business associations to exchange information 
and provide support and assistance to their 
members. 

The SBDC also provides advice and  
support to the Minister for Small Business  
on matters impacting the sector, including  
the effect of government policy and legislation 
on small business.

Through these avenues, the SBDC  
helps to raise public awareness of the 
importance of small business to the  
economy and the community. 

In addition, the SBDC investigates any matters 
impacting small businesses, and advises small 
business owners on the means of obtaining 
assistance.

The SBDC also maintains an information 
centre with a comprehensive range of business 
resources and delivers workshops for small 
business operators, existing and potential. 

Responsible Minister
As at 30 June 2013, the Hon. Liza Harvey 
MLA, Minister for Small Business, is the 
Minister responsible for the Small Business 
Development Corporation.

Enabling legislation
The Small Business Development Corporation 
Act 1983 (SBDC Act) makes provision for 
the establishment of the Small Business 
Development Corporation, the Small Business 
Commissioner and the Alternative Dispute 
Resolution service.

Our vision
A strong and enterprising small business 
sector in Western Australia.

Our mission 
To facilitate and deliver relevant, practical 
support to small businesses and to foster the 
development of policy conducive to the growth 
of a thriving sector.

Our values
Enterprise – valuing a culture of enterprise 
and innovation within the community

Focus – acting with courage, discipline and 
clarity of purpose

Independence – acting in the best interests of 
the small business sector

Fairness – valuing an environment where 
small business can thrive

Collaboration – actively engaging with others 
to achieve our mutual objectives
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Our strategic objectives
In accordance with its 2013-2017 Strategic 
Plan, the SBDC strives to:

•	 Offer continually improving practical and 
relevant services across Western Australia; 

•	 Model contemporary service delivery; 
•	 Build strong engagement with and 

commitment from all key stakeholder 
groups;

•	 Advocate for a fair, conducive and productive 
environment for small business; 

•	 Develop our organisational capacity; 
•	 Ensure the best return on Government 

funds invested in the development of  
the sector.

What is a small business?
The SBDC Act defines a “small business” as 
a business undertaking which is wholly owned 
and operated by an individual person, persons 
in partnership, or by a proprietary company 
within the meaning of the Corporations Act 
2001 (Cth) and which: 

i.	 has a relatively small share of the market 
in which it competes;

ii.	 is managed personally by the owner  
or owners or directors, as the case 
requires; and

iii.	is not a subsidiary of, or does not form 
part of, a larger business or enterprise.

In effect, the SBDC uses the standard 
Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) 
definition of small business, which is any  
non-employing business or a business 
employing fewer than 20 staff members.

Small business statistics
There are 211,203 small businesses in 
Western Australia (95.2% of all businesses 
in the State). The proportion of Western 
Australian businesses in each size category 
is illustrated below.

The industries with the largest number of small 
businesses (in descending order) are:

•	 Construction (39,600 – 11.7%)
•	 Professional, Scientific and Technical 

Services (24,671 – 10.1%)
•	 Rental, Hiring and Real Estate  

Services (21,869 – 9.9%)
•	 Agriculture, Forestry and Fishing  

(18,543 – 10.6%)
•	 Financial and Insurance Services  

(17,498 – 10.3%)

(ABS Cat. No. 8165.0 – Counts of Australian Businesses, 
including Entries and Exits, June 2008 to June 2012)

Note: Medium sized businesses are defined as those with 20-199 staff members and large businesses are defined 
as those with >200 staff members.
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  2012-13 AT A GLANCESBDC:

93%
The percentage of clients who said  
SBDC’s information and advice was 
‘of value to their business’.

$260m
The amount 
invested by 

business migrants 
moving to WA 

during the year.

428
The number of clients who 
received intensive case 
management through 
SBDC’s Alternative Dispute 
Resolution service.

7,415
The number of small business 
owners who received a 
business licence pack from 
the SBDC.

18,561
The number of personal 

client contacts SBDC 
handled during  

the year.

The number of small business opinions 
gathered from business owners during 
the year to assist SBDC in developing 
initiatives and advocating to government, 
in the best interests of the sector.

2,400 
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Executive  
Summary 
Chair’s Report
The wide diversity of small business within 
Western Australia creates many challenges 
and opportunities for the sector. The 
independent nature of small business owners 
and the relatively limited size of their enterprises 
also brings the advantages of flexibility and 
resilience to meet market variations. However, 
the lack of a uniform and consistent voice 
can also mean the sector struggles to raise 
awareness of the issues it has to face.

As we look to the future, the SBDC will continue 
to focus on providing consistently solid advice 
and guidance to new and existing business 
owners, as it has been doing very successfully 
for almost 30 years. However, it is imperative 
that our current strategic direction allows us to 
adopt a more ‘helicopter view’ of the sector; to 
recognise and address the major issues and 
challenges facing every small business.

Small businesses around Australia are 
essentially contending with the same issues. 
This is why governments have created the 
role of Small Business Commissioner in four 
states, including Western Australia. At the 
beginning of 2013 this support was further 
enhanced with the introduction of a federal 
Small Business Commissioner. The strength 
of this ‘team’ of Commissioners will enable 
them to share routes to success, develop new 
strategies to engage with government and 
peak industry bodies, and provide a clear, 
consistent voice championing the needs and 
challenges concerning the small business 
sector.

Some of the key areas which continue to place 
a real burden on small business are red tape, 
bureaucracy and duplication of paperwork. 

These are imposed, in the main, by government 
agencies. Of all the challenges facing small 
business owners, these are some of the 
biggest impediments to their enterprises being 
efficient and competitive.

Establishing the Alternative Dispute Resolution 
service was one of the first significant tasks 
undertaken when the role of Small Business 
Commissioner was created here in Western 
Australia. I am delighted to report that 
this service is now completely ‘bedded in’ 
and meeting a demand well above initial 
expectations. 

The Commissioner’s success in overseeing 
the Alternative Dispute Resolution service has 
been acknowledged and praised from all sides. 
He has shown an even-handedness when 
dealing with disputes between big business 
and small business and demonstrated his 
independence from Government when 
handling business to government disputes. 
This particular skill will be vital as he continues 
to work with all levels of government to reduce 
red tape and compliance difficulties for small 
business owners.

As Chair of the SBDC Board, I fully support 
the Commissioner as he increases his focus 
on the major challenges that affect the small 
business sector across Western Australia. 

Ray Mountney
Chair 
SBDC Board
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Operational Structure
SBDC Board
The Small Business Development Corporation 
is governed by an independent Board, drawn 
from the private sector under the auspices of 
the Small Business Development Corporation 
Act 1983. 

Membership as at 30 June 2013:

•	 Mr Ray Mountney (Chair)
•	 Ms Caterina (Kitty) Prodonovich
•	 Mr Steven Dobson
•	 Mr Jeff Healy
•	 Ms Sonia McKeiver
•	 Mr Mark Irwin (resigned 6 June 2013)
•	 Mr David Eaton (ex officio)

(For Board members’ biographies please see 
page 104)

The Small Business Commissioner
Mr David Eaton is Small Business 
Commissioner for Western Australia and Chief 
Executive Officer of the SBDC. This dual role 
is responsible for the day-to-day operation of 
both the SBDC and the Alternative Dispute 
Resolution service, and reports to the Board.

The key services of the SBDC are:

•	 Small business advisory services
•	 Dispute resolution services
•	 Business migration services
•	 Policy, advocacy and advice to 

government
•	 Small Business Centre  

Program

Small business advisory services
The core service of the SBDC is the delivery 
of advice and guidance to small business 
operators to aid in the development and growth 
of small business in Western Australia. These 
services are provided through all channels 
including online, in person, by telephone, 
e-mail, on-site appointment, through third 
parties, business associations and the media.

A range of tailored business skills workshops 
are also delivered and a business information 
centre provides a ‘walk-in’ service for clients 
seeking information on business licensing and 
regulatory requirements. (See page 17 for 
details of 2012-13 achievements.)

Dispute resolution service
The Alternative Dispute Resolution service, 
established in March 2012, is a low-cost, 
non-litigious means of resolving business-
to-business and business-to-government 
disputes involving small businesses. The 
service is also particularly useful in resolving 
retail tenancy disputes. The SBDC is now the 
first port of call for businesses experiencing 
disputes of this kind. (See page 22 for details 
of 2012-13 achievements.)

Business migration services
The SBDC delivers the Western Australian 
Business Migration Program as a key 
investment attraction initiative for the State. 
Business migrants are a significant source of 
new capital, business establishment, export 
income and employment generation. (See 
page 27 for details of 2012-13 achievements.)
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Small Business Centre  
Program
There are 25, not-for-profit community-based 
Small Business Centres (SBC) located around 
the State, with 19 in regional areas. These 
Centres provide locally delivered services 
and are partially funded by the Government, 
through the SBDC. (See page 29 for details of 
2012-13 achievements.)

Policy, advocacy and advice  
to government
The SBDC ensures the small business voice 
is heard and considered by governments at all 
levels through submissions, and liaison, and is 
a key influence in policy development where it 
pertains to small business. The SBDC conducts 
regular surveys to gauge the sentiment of the 
sector and to inform government of trends and 
concerns within small business. (See page 33 
for details of 2012-13 achievements.)

Ms Sue Foote, Small Business Centre, Bunbury-Wellington.  In 2012-13, the SBDC allocated $3.68 
million in core operational grants to the SBC network.

9
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Organisational Structure
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Performance  
Management Framework
Outcome-based management framework
Government goal: Financial and Economic Responsibility – Responsibly managing the State’s 
finances through the efficient and effective delivery of services, encouraging economic activity 
and reducing regulatory burdens on the private sector.

Desired 
outcome

Effectiveness 
indicators

Service Efficiency indicators 

Development 
of new and 
existing small 
business 
in Western 
Australia

The extent to 
which clients 
rate the 
usefulness of 
the information 
and guidance 
provided 
to them

Information, 
guidance, 
referral and 
business 
development 
services

•	 Average cost per direct  
client contact

•	 Average cost per indirect  
client contact

•	 Average cost per Small Business 
Centre client contact

•	 Cost per unit of policy advice

Changes to outcome based management framework
The Small Business Development Corporation’s Outcome Based Management Framework did 
not change during the reporting period.

Shared responsibility with other agencies
The Small Business Development Corporation did not share any responsibilities with other 
agencies in 2012-13.

Further details on Financial Targets see page 103.
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Agency Performance
Financial targets

2012-13 (1) 
Target

$’000

2012-13 
Actual

$’000

Variation 
(2)

$’000

Total cost 
of services 
(expense limit) 

(Sourced from 
Statement of 
Comprehensive 
Income)

12,634 13,281 647(a) The variance relates to additional 
expense for a Royalties for 

Region funded Buy Local program 
established after the finalisation of 
the 2012/13 budget together with 

costs for the decommissioning from 
Office of Shared Services.

Net cost of 
services 

(Sourced from 
Statement of 
Comprehensive 
Income)

12,083 12,618 535(b) Offset against the variance in (a) 
above is higher than expected 

interest revenue.

Total equity

(Sourced from 
Statement of 
Financial Position)

1,021 2,004 983(c) The variation is due mainly to a 
greater than expected surplus from 

the prior year.

Net decrease in 
cash held

(Sourced from 
Statement of 
Cashflows)

(92) (304) 212

Approved Full Time 
Equivalent (FTE) 
Staff Level

58 52 6(d) The variance relates to an FTE 
ceiling reduction applied during 

the reporting period together with 
a number of positions remaining 

vacant throughout.

(1)	 As specified in the 2012-13 Budget Statements (Budget Paper No 2 Volume 2) Pages 471-478
(2)	 Further explanations are also contained in Note 37 “Explanatory Statement” to the financial statements on page 97.

http://www.treasury.wa.gov.au/cms/uploadedFiles/State_Budget/Budget_2012_13/2012-13_budgetpaperno2_v2.pdf
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Summary of Key Performance Indicators
The Corporation undertakes client surveys 
to measure performance through core 
effectiveness indicators.  
These indicators are:

•	 Usefulness of the information and 
guidance provided;

•	 Contribution the service made to  
an informed decision to start or buy  
a business;

•	 The extent the information or guidance 
benefited the operations of the 
business; and

•	 The value of the guidance or  
information received. 

For 2012-13 all survey based effectiveness 
indicators exceeded the targets set and have 
remained consistent in comparison with the 
previous period. 

Very high levels of satisfaction continue to be 
achieved:

•	 93 per cent of survey participants rated the 
information/guidance provided as very or 
somewhat useful

•	 78 per cent who believed the services of 
the SBDC/SBCs had directly contributed 
to their decision to start or buy a business

•	 82 per cent of business owners said the 
information or advice had benefited the 
operations of their business to a great, or 
to some extent;

•	 84 per cent of those surveyed said they 
valued the information or guidance 
received. 

The Corporation achieved a Customer Service 
Index rating of 92 per cent, the same result 
as in 2011-12. The index was introduced to 
measure the extent to which the Corporation 
satisfied customer enquiries and requests 
for assistance and comprises five individual 
performance indicators focusing on both the 
process and outcomes of providing services 
to clients. 

“I approached SBDC after 
doing some initial research, 
to help guide me through 
the information overload, 
doubts and uncertainties,” 
Sanjay said.

“Not only did they  
have great business 
acumen in marketing and 
business practices to pass 
on, they were also very 
approachable and very 
understanding.”

Sanjay Prag 
Westralian  
Commservice Patient 
Transfer
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Another key effectiveness indicator is 
the result from activities of the Business 
Migration Program. This program attracts 
business migrants to Western Australia 
to boost the State’s economic growth and 
development. Business migrants therefore 
make a significant contribution to the State’s 
economy. In 2012-13, the Corporation granted 
State nomination for 302 business migrants 
from prime markets in China, South Africa, the 
United Kingdom, Malaysia, Singapore and 21 
other countries. Confirmed investment from 
Permanent Residency Business Visa Holders 
remains at very high levels. For 2012-13 the 

State economy benefitted from investment of 
over $260 million in Total Capital Inflow, $78 
million in Capital in Business and over $20 
million in Western Australian Treasury Bonds. 
In addition, 90 jobs were created and 13 
businesses commenced exporting. 

Full details of the key performance indicators 
are provided on page 55 

Niall Lawlor credits the SBDC for assisting with his business development, - from one café in  
the CBD to three.
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Chief Executive  
Officer’s Report
Providing independent information, guidance 
and advice to small business operators is 
the important core of the services provided 
through the Small Business Development 
Corporation (SBDC). 

During 2012-13 the SBDC responded to 
more than 18,500 personal client contacts 
(by phone, email or in person) while another 
51,000 were handled by the Small Business 
Centre network. 

The past twelve months have seen Western 
Australia leading the nation in population 
growth and business confidence. However it 
has also presented a challenging environment 
for many small businesses as they faced this 
period of economic transition. 

In these times, it is important to have a 
supportive government framework together 
with access to quality information and practical 
advice, to help the small business sector build 
resilience and growth. 

The sector is vital to our economy, contributing 
33.7 per cent of Australia’s private sector 
GDP and 45.7 per cent of private sector 
employment.

In addition to supporting clients who are in the 
process of starting a new business, we have 
also continued to work with those affected 
by unfavourable global economic conditions, 
increased competition accelerated by the 
growth of online trading, rising operating 
costs and the ongoing issue of attracting and 
retaining skilled labour. 

Like the small businesses we support,  
the SBDC has also experienced a challenging, 
varied and rewarding year. You will see from 
this annual report that we have expanded our 
influence through services delivered directly 
to small business owners and the information  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
and advice we share with industry groups, 
and particularly, other government agencies.
In early 2012, we launched the Alternative 
Dispute Resolution service to provide 
practical, intensive guidance to businesses in 
dispute with another business or a government 
agency. Over the last 12 months this service 
has provided an important, unique and well 
supported resource for businesses in WA 
facing disputation.

Our investigation into the non-payment of 
subcontractors on construction contracts 
administered by Building Management and 
Works was a significant body of work. We were 
pleased to note that all the recommendations 
have been accepted by Government and 
should contribute to improvements across 
the construction industry.

Finding ways to reduce red tape and lower 
the burden of compliance on small business, 
continues to be a challenge for all levels of 
government. The SBDC plays a significant 
role in helping to meet this challenge by 
providing informed advice to regulators and 
government agencies.

As part of our commitment to continuous 
service improvement, many aspects of our 
customer service delivery have been reviewed. 
We are determined to remain relevant, 
effective and valuable to our clients. These 
themes of ‘continuous improvement’ and 
‘customer focus’ are emphasised throughout 
our strategic plan. 



I take this opportunity to recognise and thank 
my staff and management team for their 
ongoing dedication to delivering important 
services to the small business sector. The 
team’s collective passion and commitment 
are reflected in the extremely positive results 
of our customer survey and I applaud them for 
their ongoing dedication. 

I would also like to acknowledge the individual 
business owners and the industry associations 
that make such a substantial contribution to 
the economic and social wealth of Western 
Australia.

David Eaton 
Small Business Commissioner
Chief Executive Officer
Small Business Development Corporation
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Small Business Commissioner David Eaton with business migrants Jessie Sun, 
Sun Dental Logistics and Ken Everett, Digital Matters.
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Small Business Services
Providing relevant and timely information, advice and guidance to small business, 
including specialist advice on finance, marketing, employment, commercial tenancy, 
business migration, franchising and exporting.

The core services of the SBDC are directly 
linked to the provision of of free and  
low-cost, information, advice and business 
skills development to the small business sector 
in Western Australia. 

Throughout 2012-13, business advisors and 
program officers responded to clients’ needs 
through a variety of service channels including 
telephone, e-mail, face-to-face meetings and 
workshops, and supported 25 Small Business 
Centres located throughout Western Australia. 
Most clients were operating businesses 
in the professional and other services, 
accommodation and food services, retail trade 
and construction industries.

Almost three quarters of all clients accessing 
SBDC advisory services were actively involved 
in running a business, while a further 24 per 
cent were looking to establish a small business. 
The SBDC, in cooperation with the 25 Small 
Business Centres located around the State, 
meet the needs of these clients by assisting 
with all stages of the business lifecycle from 
pre-start, development and growth, through to 
succession planning and exit strategies.

Outcomes for 2012-13:
The SBDC had a total of 18,561 personal client 
contacts across all services and programs, 
and a further 51,000 client contacts by 25 
Small Business Centres through the Small 
Business Centre program. Overall comparison 
to previous years’ results are not made, as 
statistical information this year was collected 
using a new Client Management System 
(CRM) which differs from the method used 
previously.

During the year, the majority of personal 

client contacts (10,479) were received by the 
Business Information Centre and business 
advisory service, followed by 3,755 directed 
to the specialist commercial tenancy and 
alternative dispute resolution services and 
2,009 to the Business Migration Team. Of 
these, business advisors, case managers and 
migration officers conducted 2,128 face-to-
face appointments and serviced the balance 
of clients’ needs by phone and email.
The annual survey of key performance indicators 
shows a high level of client satisfaction. The 
survey results indicate that the information and 
advice provided was ‘useful’ for 93 per cent of 
clients, ‘of value to business’ for 84 per cent of 
clients and ‘of benefit to business operations’ for 
82 per cent of clients.
This year’s survey results also state that 93 
per cent of clients were ‘satisfied with their 
overall SBDC experience’ and 93 per cent of 
clients were ‘likely to use the service again’. 

Most performance indicators remain consistent 
with last year.

Business Information Centre (BIC)
The Business Information Centre (BIC) is the 
entry point for small business services provided 
by the SBDC. The BIC provides business and 
licensing information and online resources 
to streamline the business start up process, 
and assist with the growth of established 
businesses. 

Information available at the BIC includes a 
range of free business information leaflets and 
checklists as well as a range of publications 
on starting, developing and managing a small 
business. The BIC also manages the SBDC’s 
range of business skills workshops.



Online services include access to the Business 
Licence Finder and the IBISWorld database. 
This database provides free access to financial 
benchmarking and market research reports on 
over 500 industries in Australia.

Outcomes for 2012-13:
During the year in review, there were 1,632   
personal client contacts with Small Business 
Services seeking information and guidance on 
licensing and regulation issues and a further 
570 about workshops and online research.

In February 2013, a review of the existing 
services, structure and resources of the BIC 
was undertaken. This review made a range 
of recommendations, many of which will be 
implemented during the next financial year.

One recommendation was to reduce the 
number of commercially produced publications 
available for sale in the BIC. This is because 
of the increased ease and affordability of 
purchasing business titles online from private 
providers. As a result, book sales this year 
were slightly lower than last year with 1,538 
units sold, valued at $21,333. 

The annual survey of BIC clients indicated a 
high level of satisfaction across most indicators, 
particularly for ‘usefulness of information and 
advice’ (96%), ‘satisfied with overall contact’ 
(96%) and ‘value to the business’ (89%) all of 
which represent slight increases on last year. 

There was a decrease in those who felt the BIC 
was ‘a benefit to business operations’, down 4 
per cent to 76 per cent.

Business Licence Finder 
The Business Licence Finder (BLF) is a core 
service offered by the BIC. It has a database 
of more than 8,000 federal, state and local 
government licences, registrations and 
permits, as well as relevant codes of practice 
required to conduct any type of business in 
Western Australia. 

The BLF is accessible to the public via the 
SBDC website or with the assistance of BIC 
staff. This online service has the advantage 
of being available at any time for clients to 
generate their own business licence reports.

Outcomes for 2012-13:
A total of 7,415 business licence reports 
were generated through the BLF database. 
Approximately 70 per cent of clients (5,224) 
opted to generate their own reports online while 
the remaining 30 per cent sought assistance 
from BIC staff. 

Small business workshops
A review of the small business workshop 
program was undertaken, resulting in the 
SBDC expanding its suite of regular business 
skills workshops. 

The new workshops are designed for 
businesses in the start-up phase to provide an 
introduction to the fundamentals of starting and 
operating a small business, as well as those 
in the development stage of their business to 
provide more advanced management skills.
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The Business Information Centre is the entry point for 
SBDC services
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Outcomes for 2012-13:
By March 2013, a full suite of new  workshops was available. All workshops are conducted at 
least monthly, with the weekly BiZBasics workshop proving most popular for those looking to start 
a small business.

Workshop Number of 
workshops

Commencement 
date

Number of 
attendees

BiZBasics 49 July 2012 1084

Succeeding Online 12 July 2012 286

The 12 Step Business Plan 10 October 2012 178

Understanding Your 
Business Financials

10 November 2012 129

Spreading the Word –  
Marketing your Business

7 December 2012 114

Setting up Business Systems 4 March 2013 27

OVERALL TOTAL 92 1818

Following the review, the SBDC has also 
introduced a variety of specialist workshop 
presenters, greater frequency of workshops to 
cater for more participants, and increased the 
range of resource workbooks and presentation 
materials, including a useful take-home tool 
for participants. 

Workshop resources will also be made 
available to 25 Small Business Centres located 
around the State to further expand the reach 
of these resources.

Industry Link
During 2012-13, the SBDC has sought 
opportunities to extend its services to reach 
more small business clients without increasing 
the agency’s costs or resources. To this end, 
the SBDC has enhanced its current service 
delivery model by partnering with industry and 
business groups through a new Industry Link 
program which provides fundamental business 
management information and business skills 
workshops tailored to the particular industry.

Industry Link is aimed at enhancing the 
business acumen of a wider range of  
small business operators throughout the 
State, resulting in a more resilient and robust 
small business sector. See details of strategic 
alliances and Industry Link partners on page 
114.

Outcomes for 2012-13:
Since the program commenced in February 
2013, Industry Link has successfully engaged 
with 15 organisations, delivering workshops, 
services, resources and support to over 440 
participants.

Industry Link events have been undertaken 
with LotteryWest, Penrhos College, REIWA 
Business Brokers, TAFE, Western Australian 
Department of Health Nurse Practitioners 
and the Master Builders Association. Future 
Industry Link events are planned ,including 
sessions for the Western Australian 
Occupational Therapists Association.
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Business Advisory Service – general
The SBDC business advisors provide free 
general business information and advice 
for both start-up and established business 
operators. In addition, the advisors also 
provide expertise on a range of business 
management areas including finance, 
marketing, employment, franchising, importing 
and exporting.

During 2012-13, almost half of all personal client 
contacts (47%) to Small Business Services 
were from people in business seeking general 
business information and advice. Response 
to client contacts was mainly delivered by 
telephone (66%), face-to-face appointment 
(17%) and email (14%).

Outcomes for 2012-13:
Most of the enquiries received by the SBDC 
in 2012-13 were from clients who were in 
business or wanting to start a new business. 
The majority of these clients were from the 
following industry areas;

•	 Professional and other services;
•	 Retail trade;
•	 Construction; and
•	 Accommodation and food services.

Of the 8,277 general business advisory 
enquiries received, the majority were for 
business start-up advice (33%), the statutory 
requirements for operating a business (9%) 
and information on buying or selling a business 
(6%).

Other areas of demand for business advice and 
management support were mostly focused on 
increasing skills and knowledge in business 
planning (8%), taxation (6%), business growth 
(5%) and financial management and marketing 
(4%).

The SBDC business advisors also responded 
to business dispute enquiries. In total there 
were 2,438 dispute-related enquiries of 
which the advisory team responded to over  

“All those years ago, when 
I found out what a terrific 
service the SBDC was,  
I told everyone about it, 
went to all the workshops 
and got invaluable advice 
on how to start my beauty 
salon.

“When I took over this 
business two years ago, 
I went back to the SBDC 
for information on growing 
the business and what 
I needed to know about 
employing people.”

Alit Caro 
Mineral Cosmetics 
Booragoon
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90 per cent, the Policy team handling the 
business to government disputes and the 
Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) team 
responding to the remaining disputes. The 
majority of disputes handled by business 
advisors were business to business issues 
with 28 per cent of these being between a 
landlord and tenant.

To promote a greater understanding of the 
free advisory services available to the small 
business sector, SBDC advisors participated in 
a number of presentations and special events 
throughout the year. See full list of strategic 
alliances on page 113.

Specialist advisory service – 
commercial tenancy
One of the most important and potentially 
damaging issues for a small business is the 
process of negotiating a commercial lease. 
The SBDC provides a specialist commercial 
tenancy advisory service for small business 
tenants, landlords and other industry 
stakeholders. 

The service provides information and 
guidance on the Commercial Tenancy (Retail 
Shops) Agreements Act 1985 (CTA Act) and 
all aspects of negotiating and leasing business 
premises. 

With the introduction of the ADR service 
in March 2012, the specialist commercial 
tenancy advisory service is now enhanced to 
include the provision of access to the Small 
Business Commissioner and assistance to 
resolve business disputes.

Outcomes for 2012-13:
During the year in review, the commercial 
tenancy advisory team responded to 2,037 
personal client contacts (of which 689 were 
dispute related), with information and guidance 
on commercial tenancy issues. 

Changes to the CTA Act that increased 
safeguards for small business tenants 

commenced on 1 January 2013. The SBDC 
played a major role in the creation of these 
important reforms providing advice to the 
administrators of the CTA Act, the Department 
of Commerce. The SBDC also ensured the 
interests of small business were taken into 
account at all stages of the reform process, 
including during the finalising of supporting 
regulations to the changes to the CTA Act. 

These changes were designed to create a 
level playing field and create a fairer and more 
equitable commercial tenancy market for 
Western Australian retailers engaged in lease 
negotiations. The new laws also address some 
of the main grievances experienced by small 
businesses during their lease negotiations and 
agreements. As a result, lease negotiations will 
be more transparent, equitable and efficient, 
and tenants will be able to make more informed 
decisions about leasing business premises. 

To assist small business tenants, landlords 
and other industry stakeholders to better 
understand the changes to the CTA Act, the 
SBDC has produced three comprehensive 
publications which incorporate the recent 
changes. The publications are in easy to read 
question and answer format.

A required function of the Small Business 
Commissioner, under the CTA  Act, is to provide 
information and guidance on provisions of  
the Act. 

At a seminar, conducted by the Department 
of Commerce, the Commissioner provided 
information related to the SBDC’s field 
experience on changes to the CTA Act and 
the SBDC’s Alternative Dispute Resolution 
service. The seminar was held for real estate 
agents and property managers as part of  
an education program on the changes to the 
CTA Act. 

In August 2012, new retail trading hours, 
including Sunday trading, commenced in 
Western Australia. Prior to these changes, 
the Small Business Commissioner wrote to 
tenants of retail premises to prepare them for 
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the new trading hours, reinforcing that the CTA 
Act protected retailers from being forced to 
open on Sundays and that retailers could only 
be charged additional operating expenses if 
they chose to open on Sundays.

Alternative Dispute Resolution  
(ADR) service
The 2012-13 financial year was the first full 
year of operation for the ADR service. This 
service is the first of its kind dedicated to small 
business, and further increases the scope of 
the SBDC’s business advisory role in Western 
Australia.

The ADR service commenced with the 
introduction of the Small Business and Retail 
Shop Legislation Amendment Act 2011 
(the Act) and the passing of amendments 
to the Commercial Tenancy (Retail Shops) 
Agreements Act 1985 in March 2012. 

The service was introduced to give businesses 
an opportunity to resolve disputes without the 
need to engage in formal legal action. 

ADR is a voluntary process where an SBDC 
case manager assists parties to understand 
their rights and responsibilities and to examine 
options for the resolution of a dispute without 
the need for a determination by a court or 
tribunal. It provides parties with greater control 
over the resolution process and any outcome 
or agreement generated. ADR can also have a 
positive effect on maintaining ongoing business 
relationships. 

As part of this service, the SBDC has developed 
a pool of independent and professional 
mediators to further assist in the resolution 
of disputes. Where parties are willing to 
attend mediation, the SBDC can appoint a 
mediator from the pool. The mediation service 
is subsidised by the State Government, with 
parties contributing a small fee to commence 
the mediation process.

Outcomes for 2012-13:
During the year in review, a total of 428 
cases were referred to the ADR team for 
intensive case management, which involves a 
dedicated case manager actively working with 
the disputing parties to resolve the issues in 
conflict.

As at 30 June 2013, the ADR case managers 
had resolved 376 (88%) of the dispute cases 
which had a total value of $18,523,379 (based 
on client estimation). The balance of cases 
remain active and will be finalised during the 
next financial year.

As well as assisting businesses in dispute 
with another business or with a government 
agency, the SBDC has a mandated role in the 
resolution of retail tenancy disputes which arise 
between retail tenants and their landlords. 

Since the introduction of the ADR service, 
retail tenancy disputes that have previously 
been directed to the State Administrative 
Tribunal (SAT) for a determination, must 
now attempt to be resolved through the  
SBDC’s ADR service. 

Approximately one third of the 376 cases (132) 
resolved by the ADR service were related to 
retail tenancy disputes. Of these, 80 per cent 
were resolved directly with the assistance of 
the ADR service, therefore removing the need 
for the disputing parties to seek a determination 
through the SAT.

The ADR process not only reduces the length 
of time and the costs associated with resolving 
disputes, it may also reduce the number of small 
business disputes which go unaddressed due 
to the reluctance of parties to pursue a matter 
in a more formal and costly legal setting. Often 
the cost associated with retrieving the debt 
through formal court action outweighs the 
amount owed and as such go unaddressed. 
This impacts not only on the bottom line of the 
business concerned, but also potentially its 
ongoing business relationships.
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As formal mediation requires the voluntary 
participation of both parties, not all cases 
recommended for mediation actually occur. 
However, a total of 36 mediations were  
held in 2012-13 with 83 per cent recorded  
as having a successful outcome. The total 
value of disputes successfully resolved 
via the mediation process in 2012-13,  
was $1,707,220.

Alternative Dispute Resolution service - 
business-to-government disputes 
As part of the ADR service, the SBDC is 
also responsible for investigating business-
to-government disputes. The service assists 
businesses experiencing difficulty dealing with 
government agencies (at all levels) to:

•	 understand how government policies and 
procedures work;

•	 communicate effectively with  
government agencies;

•	 navigate licensing and other red tape 
issues; and

•	 find alternative solutions that are 
consistent with legislative and  
policy requirements.

In addition to assisting with individual issues, 
this service allows the SBDC to identify issues 
that may impact a broader range of businesses 
and address issues at a systemic level.

Outcomes for 2012-13:
During the year in review, the SBDC 
investigated 52 business-to-government 
enquiries and disputes. Around half of these 
enquiries were related to local government, 
with planning approvals remaining the most 
common type of dispute. In relation to the State 
Government enquiries, which accounted for 
just under half of all business-to-government 
enquiries, licensing and issues relating to 
utilities were raised most frequently.

Most business-to-government enquiries 
received during the year were resolved through 
early, informal liaison by the SBDC, with the 
relevant government authority, on behalf of the 
small business owner. 

CASE STUDY 1:
This case involved the complex 
interaction of local and state laws, a 
lease between a small business and 
a government agency, and a franchise 
agreement in which the parties could 
not agree on who, the lessee or leaser, 
was liable to pay council rates as there 
was no provision for this in the lease 
agreement. Over the course of a few 
months, the SBDC provided support 
to help resolve this matter, initially 
assisting the business operator to obtain 
clarification of their obligations under 
the lease and the Local Government 
Act 1995. 

The SBDC case manager also liaised 
between the business operator, the 
government agency and its legal team, 
and the local government authority. 
This culminated in the lessee and 
the government party agreeing to try 
to resolve the matter by attending 
mediation, which subsequently resulted 
in an agreement. Importantly, the 
mediation provided not only a successful 
agreement for the immediate payment of 
the outstanding rates notice, but also a 
longer-term agreement on the payment 
of future notices, helping to preserve 
the ongoing business relationship.
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CASE STUDY 2:
During 2012-13, the SBDC received 
complaints from a number of small 
businesses regarding a scheduled 
power outage by a government-owned 
utility. The SBDC successfully negotiated 
a mutually beneficial outcome between 
the two parties including the provision 
of generators for each of the affected 
businesses. 

“Ignition” for small business 
entrepreneurs 
In 2012-13, the SBDC partnered with the Curtin 
Centre for Entrepreneurship (C4E) within the 
Curtin University’s Business School to support 
the Ignition program.

Ignition provides a five day entrepreneurial 
learning program that helps participants take 
their innovative ideas through a disciplined, 
intensive process to:

•	 validate their business concepts; 
•	 help form the basis of a business plan; and 
•	 commence building a funding proposition. 

The SBDC is a founding partner of this 
entrepreneurial program which links academia, 
industry and business with government in the 
provision of experiential learning.

Outcomes for 2012-13:
The $50,000 financial contribution from the 
SBDC ensures that Western Australia (through 
the C4E) continues to hold exclusive rights 
to deliver Ignition, and will provide access to 
world standard education and support for local 
small business innovators and inventors.

The program fills a gap in the market for small 
business entrepreneurs seeking support to 
commercialise a service or product and is 
complementary to the specialist business 
development services provided by the SBDC.

Indian Ocean Territories Service 
Delivery Agreement
Since November 2008, the SBDC has held 
a Service Delivery Agreement (SDA) with 
the Commonwealth Department of Regional 
Australia, Local Government, Arts and Sport 
(DRALGAS) to provide programs and services 
to potential and existing small business 
operators on the Indian Ocean Territories of 
Christmas and Cocos (Keeling) Islands. This 
agreement expired on 30 June 2012.

During 2012-13, the agreement was reviewed 
and DRALGAS was advised that the SBDC 
would not be seeking continuation of the 
agreement but would still provide programs 
and services through to 31 December 2012 
to allow time for them to find an alternative 
service provider.

Under this agreement, the SBDC has 
provided a broad range of advisory services, 
workshops and events tailored for individuals 
and businesses within the Indian Ocean 
Territories (IOT). During 2012-13, the services 
were delivered through a local representative 
supported by visits from SBDC business 
advisors and private sector consultants. 

Outcomes for 2012-13:
An SBDC business advisor visited Christmas 
Island and the Cocos (Keeling) Islands on  
two occasions.

The business advisor, supported by a private 
sector business specialist and assisted by 
the local island representative, delivered 
business advisory services to local small 
businesses. Tailored workshops and events 
were also conducted to promote small 
business sustainability and growth and to help 
strengthen the IOT business communities.
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To raise awareness of issues that affect  
the development of small businesses in 
the IOT, SBDC representatives met with  
16 government officials and industry 
organisations.

In the six months to 31 December 2012, a total 
of 114 personal client contacts were made by 
SBDC representatives, covering business 
issues including financial management, 
strategic planning, business planning, 
marketing, merchandising, customer service 
and leasing. 

The SBDC, although no longer visiting the 
IOT under an SDA, continues to provide 
direct business information and advice to 
small business operators on the islands via 
telephone and online resources. 

Tourism BOOST 
The Tourism BOOST program was officially 
launched in August 2011 to assist small 
business owners to better understand the 
tourism industry and boost their financial 
returns through practical marketing initiatives. 

With the assistance of $150,000 in funding 
from Tourism WA, the SBDC developed a 
comprehensive training program for aspiring 
and existing tourism operators, including a 
series of workshops and an online guide. It 
was delivered throughout the State for a 12 
month period during 2011-12. 

Funding for the workshops was extended by 
the SBDC to 31 December 2012 after which, 
the program was converted to an online 
resource. Although the workshop program has 
now closed, assistance for small businesses in 
the tourism industry is still provided through the 
online guide available on the SBDC website.

“The Alterative Dispute 
Resolution team is very 
efficient and approachable 
and they ensured we 
were well-prepared for our 
mediation session.

“They certainly alleviated 
a lot of stress as we were 
very grateful for their 
involvement in helping us 
sort out our dispute.”

Carolyn and Jade Stubbs 
Carpenter,  
Canning Vale
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The guide provides specific information  
about the tourism industry and business  
tips, as well as:

•	 interactive tools to help accommodation 
providers and tour operators correctly  
price their products; 

•	 interactive quizzes to test business 
operators’ knowledge; 

•	 a range of checklists, templates and 
resources to help operators set up 
business systems; and 

•	 links to a dedicated Tourism BOOST 
YouTube channel featuring video footage 
of operators sharing their tourism and 
business experiences.

Outcomes for 2012-13:
In total, the Tourism Boost program was 
delivered around the State to 688 small 
business operators, through 31 workshops in 
26 regional and metropolitan locations.

From 1 July 2012 to December 2012, the SBDC 
delivered four Tourism BOOST workshops in 
the south west of the State, to a total of 51 
participants.

In recognition of its contribution to the Western 
Australian tourism industry, the program 
was awarded a silver medal in the Tourism 
Education and Training category of the 2012 
Perth Airport WA Tourism Awards.

Business Online Services Project (BOS) 
The Business Online Services (BOS) 
project is a key component of the Australian 
Business Number and Business Name 
Registration Project – one of 27 regulatory 
hotspots identified by the Council of Australian 
Government (COAG) to reduce the burden on 
business.

BOS aims to help businesses be more 
productive and cut the cost of complying with 
government regulations. This is to be achieved 
through a suite of online services 

including the Australian Business Licence & 
Information Service (ABLIS) and Australian 
Business Account (ABA).

The SBDC works in partnership with 
the Commonwealth, state and territory 
governments to design, test and implement 
the features of the BOS.

Outcomes for 2012-13:
During the year, BOS consolidated the 
business licence information held in eight 
jurisdictions, into a single site which enables 
businesses to access licence information 
for every jurisdiction, across all three tiers of 
government, through a single portal.

Complementing the ABLIS is the ABA – an 
account that allows businesses to save their 
search results from ABLIS to their own private 
‘to do list’. From there, they can work on the 
customised search results when convenient, 
without having to conduct another search in 
ABLIS.

The delivery of BOS features is an iterative 
process, planned in stages over several years. 
Essential functionality for Western Australia 
to transition to the BOS platform will not be 
available until later in 2013. In the meantime, 
the SBDC will continue to use the Business 
Licence Finder tool to assist clients.

In 2012-13, the SBDC  
hosted three delegations (65 participants) of State 
nominated and potential business migrants from China.
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Business Migration Program 
The SBDC delivers the Western Australian 
Business Migration Program on behalf of the 
State Government. This program is a key 
initiative to attract investment into the State, 
as business migrants make a significant 
contribution to the State’s economic prosperity. 
Through business establishment costs, export 
income and employment generation, business 
migrants are a leading source of new capital 
for Western Australia. 

The Business Migration Program attracts 
business migrants to Western Australia by:

•	 marketing the State as one of the world’s 
leading destinations for investment, 
employment, education and lifestyle;

•	 assisting potential business migrants with 
information on visa options as well as living, 
working and establishing a business in 
Western Australia; and 

•	 supporting qualifying business migrants 
with State nomination to become eligible 
to lodge a visa application with the 
Department of Immigration and Citizenship 
(DIAC) under the Business Innovation and 
Investment Program.

The SBDC promotes Western Australia 
internationally to agents and potential business 
migrants through a marketing program 
focusing on the State’s primary immigration 
markets.

China continues to be a primary market, 
accounting for 54 per cent of all business 
migrants coming to the State during 2012-13.

Malaysia and Singapore are the State’s 
second ranked market with 11 per cent. Other 
important markets are South Africa and the UK 
with 5 per cent each. Pakistan and Iran were 
the two most significant emerging markets 
during the reporting year.

To generate maximum exposure for the 
Business Migration Program and to assist 
new migrants in establishing and developing 
their businesses in Western Australia, SBDC 

has formed strategic alliances with a range  
of government and private sector organisations, 
including:

•	 Department of State Development (DSD) 
International Trade and Investment Offices; 
the SBDC cooperates with the DSD and the 
Western Australian Overseas Trade Offices 
by jointly participating in events, presenting 
seminars and attending appointments with 
potential business migrants. 

•	 Migration Institute of Australia and Migration 
Alliance Western Australian Branches; 
the SBDC provides the Institute and the 
Alliance with up to date information on the 
policies and criteria for State nomination for 
distribution to migration agents in Western 
Australia and overseas. 

•	 Western Australian Chinese Chamber of 
Commerce; the SBDC jointly hosts events 
with the Chamber to ensure new business 
migrants are aware of the services provided 
by the SBDC.

•	 Department of Immigration and Citizenship 
(DIAC); as a member of the national Skilled 
Migration Officials Group and a participant 
of the State Client Reference Group, the 
SBDC consults with DIAC to assist with policy 
development, strategies and initiatives.

From 1 July 2012, the Department of 
Immigration and Citizenship introduced the 
new Business Innovation and Investment 
Program for business migrants. This program 
has introduced two key changes to the previous 
Business Migration Program;

•	 business migrants can no longer apply for 
a business visa without the nomination of a 
state or territory government; and

•	 personal criteria for entry into Australia as 
a business migrant has been significantly 
increased and financial requirements have 
been increased by over 50 per cent.

These changes will result in the Business 
Innovation and Investment Program delivering 
a lower number of business migrants but with 
a higher economic value.
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Outcomes for 2012-13:
During the year, representatives from the 
SBDC and the Western Australian Overseas 
Trade Offices participated in international 
migration activities in the State’s prime markets 
of China and South Africa. In total, over 500 
potential business migrants attended the 15 
presentations on Western Australia and 2,500 
attended the migration expo. Training was also 
provided to 40 overseas migration agents and 
their staff.

These events form part of the overall marketing 
strategy to attract new business migrants to 
Western Australia, and to develop and reinforce 
relationships with Overseas Trade Offices and 
migration agents based in Western Australia’s 
prime target countries.

Throughout 2012-13, demand for business 
migration information and support remained 
high, with the SBDC team responding to 2,464 
enquiries and nomination applications from 
clients and migration agents. State nomination 
application fees raised $128,900 against an 
anticipated $125,000 to assist with the cost of 
servicing clients and agents and undertaking 
the international marketing program. 

During 2012-13: 

•	 167 State nominations were approved for 
new business migrants to apply for visas to 
commence business in Western Australia, 
and 

•	 135 State nominations and one registration 
were approved for business migrants on 
temporary residency visas to convert to 
permanent residency visas. 

The key outcome achieved for the Western 
Australian economy is that 136 business 
migrants finalised their investment this 
year, injecting $260,502,656 into the State 
for business establishment, treasury bond 
investment, personal expenditure and 
settlement costs. This investment also created 
90 new jobs and 13 new exporting businesses.

Businesses established by migrants range 
across a variety of industry sectors. Of 
the export businesses, most focused on 
agricultural products and mining resources.

During the year in review, the SBDC hosted 
three delegations of State nominated 
and potential business migrants (65 
participants) from China, seeking investment 
opportunities in Western Australia. A program  

In 2012-13, 136 business migrants injected more than $260 million into the State for  
business establishment, treasury bond investment, personal expenditure and settlement costs.
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of business presentations and visits to  
various organisations were arranged for 
each of the delegations.

Business Migrant Network 
The SBDC provides ongoing support for 
business migrants in Western Australia through 
its Business Migrant Network. Networking 
events provide an opportunity for recently 
arrived migrants to broaden their business 
networks by meeting other business migrants 
and service providers.

Outcomes for 2012-13:
During the year in review, three Business 
Migrant Network events were hosted by the 
SBDC, attracting more than 280 participants. 
The Network now has over 400 members and 
is a valuable source of peer support to assist 
migrants in establishing and developing their 
businesses in Western Australia.

Small Business Centre Program
Twenty-five Small Business Centres (SBC) 
are located throughout Western Australia, with 
19 centres in regional areas. The SBC are 
independent, not-for-profit, community based 
organisations providing locally delivered small 
business services. In 2012-13, the SBDC 
allocated $3.68 million in core operational 
grants to the SBC network. Of this, $2.81 
million (76%) was allocated to regional SBC.

Outcomes for 2012-13:
Throughout the year in review, the SBC 
continued to support new and existing small 
business operators throughout Western 
Australia. Collectively, the SBC undertook in 
excess of 43,000 client sessions (up 4 per cent 
on last year), which resulted in over 1,500 new 
business start-ups (down 1 per cent on last 
year). In addition, the SBC program facilitated 
the creation of over 2,500 jobs (up 15 per cent 
on last year), and hosted just under 8,000 
workshop participants.

During 2012-13, SBC managers were  
required to report on new performance 
measurements for their centres. Results 
indicate that collectively, the SBC Program has 
provided 13,092 hours of facilitation to small 
businesses throughout Western Australia 
during 2012-13. The three main issues covered 
during these sessions were business planning, 
marketing and financial management. The 
most common business types were food and 
accommodation; retail trade and professional; 
and scientific and technical.

In addition, the SBDC conducted an online 
customer satisfaction survey. Results 
indicated that the overall experience of 
SBC clients was positive, with a majority of  
clients indicating they would use the  
services of the SBC again.

A SBC State conference was held in November 
2012, with professional development provided 
for chairs and managers of the SBC. For 
managers, the professional development 
focused on peer to peer learning, social media, 
problem solving and assisting Aboriginal 
businesses. Professional development for 
the chairs of SBC committees focused on 
improving knowledge of corporate governance 
and proactive board engagement. 

In May 2013, the SBDC sponsored a series of 
“Future Proofing” small business information 
seminars in Broome, Karratha, Geraldton 
and Bunbury, delivered in partnership with 
Redwave Media. 

During the reporting period, the management 
committee of the Small Business Centre, 
Wheatbelt South (Narrogin), experienced 
difficulties securing a manager to provide 
services to the region. As a result, the 
management committee of the Centre 
relinquished the SBC program to the SBDC. 
In order to maintain service delivery to 
small businesses in the region, the SBDC 
contracted an experienced business advisor 
to provide the SBC program. He is well known 
to stakeholders and businesses in the region.
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•	 Review into the delivery of  
business advisory services by  
third party providers
Endorsement was received during  
2012-13 from the Minister for Small 
Business to conduct a review of the SBC 
program. This review, due to commence 
in August 2013, will involve an in-depth 
study of the delivery of business advisory 
services, an assessment of the efficiency 
and effectiveness of both the service delivery 
model and the governance arrangements. 

The review is being undertaken to ensure 
on-going value for small business operators 
and the best return for public funding. 

The current program and its use of third-
party providers will be assessed and 
recommendations made on future design, 
governance framework, outcome measures 
and service methods. It is anticipated that 
a final report with recommendations will be 
forwarded to the Minister for Small Business 
in 2014.

•	 Regional “Buy Local Program”  
pilot project
During 2012-13 the SBDC, in collaboration 
with the Department of Commerce, received 
Royalties for Regions funding to pilot a 
Regional Buy Local Program. A pilot project 
is being trialled through nine regional SBC 
servicing the SuperTowns identified in 
the Regional Centres Development Plan 
(Esperance, Manjimup, Katanning, Margaret 
River, Collie, Northam, Jurien Bay, Morawa 
and Boddington). 

The objective of the program is to build the 
capacity of local small businesses, creating 
an environment in the regions that is viable 
and sustainable and leads to long term 
growth and resilience, despite fluctuating 
economic conditions.

Activities undertaken for the project 
include ‘mystery shopping’ of local retail 
shops to assess where improvements 

JinHe Xu travelled around 
Australia before deciding 
that Western Australia was 
the best place for sound 
business opportunities and 
a great family lifestyle.

“Through the SBDC, the 
Government provides a lot 
of assistance for business 
migrants like us, and they 
were very helpful in showing 
us how to comply with the 
requirements of our visa.”

JinHe Xu, Director 
Golden Estaate Property 
Development 
Winthrop
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are needed, online business directories 
listing all local businesses, retail “buy local” 
promotions and continuous improvement 
sessions for businesses through one-on-
one consultations. These measures are 
designed to help identify and address gaps 
in business operations and increase the 
capacity of regional businesses to capitalise 
on changing economic circumstances.

Specialist advisory service – Aboriginal 
business support
The SBDC provides a suite of business 
support services to assist and support the 
development of Aboriginal businesses and the 
Aboriginal business community in Western 
Australia. 

Throughout 2012-13 the SBDC has focused on 
creating collaborative relationships between 
Government and Industry in support of the 
Aboriginal business sector.

Creating purposeful relationships with both 
Federal and State Government agencies, the 
resource sector (e.g. Woodside), Western 
Australia Indigenous Tourism Operators 
Council (WAITOC), Many Rivers Microfinance 
and the Small Business Centre network, has 
enabled the delivery of SBDC services to 
be coordinated and the delivery of business 
assistance to communities to be improved.

Outcomes for 2012-13:
Since July 2012, the SBDC met with a total of 
27 Aboriginal business clients, conducted 28 
client follow-up contacts and participated in 98 
stakeholder meetings.

In addition, the SBDC has played a major 
collaborative role in a range of projects to 
assist Aboriginal entrepreneurs around the 
State to start and grow their enterprises. Such 
projects include:

•	 Aboriginal Business Directory WA
A partnership was developed between the 
SBDC, the Chamber of Commerce and 
Industry Western Australia (through Project 
Connect), the Department of Aboriginal 
Affairs, and the Department of Training 
and Workforce Development to develop an 
Aboriginal Business Directory WA.

This State-wide initiative, inclusive of 
all industry sectors, is free to register, 
searchable by location and industry sector, 
and able to provide details of the capabilities 
of the registered businesses. 

The Aboriginal Business Directory WA is 
designed to:

•	 enhance the opportunities for 
Aboriginal business to secure 
business and contracts;

•	 support the sustainability and growth 
of Aboriginal business;

•	 develop procurement networks that 
will ensure the opportunities for 
Aboriginal business;

•	 provide a means for industry and 
government to engage with Aboriginal 
businesses; and 

•	 be inclusive of all industry sectors.

SBDC Board member,  
Ms Kitty Prodonovich with Parliamentary Secretary  
Joe Francis MLA, at the launch of the Aboriginal 
Business Directory WA.
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The SBDC provides ongoing support for 
the directory through administration of the 
database and development of business 
capability profiles.

The registration of businesses 
commenced on 6 March 2012. The 
directory was officially launched on  
9 October 2012. There are currently  
145 companies registered on the directory –  
www.abdwa.com.au

•	 12 Inspiring Stories Aboriginal 
Business Success 
This publication, produced by the SBDC, 
showcases a selection of Aboriginal 
businesses operating successfully in 
Western Australia. These businesses range 
from art galleries to Aboriginal tourism 
businesses and have each benefitted 
from the services of the SBDC/Aboriginal 
Business Unit and/or the Small Business 
Centre network.

•	 Aboriginal Economic Participation 
Strategy 2012-2016
In partnership with the Department of 
Aboriginal Affairs, the SBDC has delivered 
workshops focusing on Aboriginal 
businesses accessing and gaining 
procurement through government agencies 
e.g. Department of Housing.

•	 Aboriginal Tourism Strategy  
for WA 2011 – 2015 (ATSWA)  
Steering Committee
The SBDC is represented on the Aboriginal 
Tourism Strategy Steering Committee, 
to assist and support the development of 
viable and sustainable Aboriginal tourism 
businesses in Western Australia. 

•	 Indigenous Tourism Champions 
Program (ITCP)
The SBDC is responsible for the management 
of this program in Western Australia, on 
behalf of Tourism Western Australia and 
Indigenous Business Australia. The ITCP 
provides access for selected Indigenous 

cultural tourism businesses, to business 
development specialists, targeted funding 
and international and trade marketing.

•	 Kimberley Science and  
Conservation Strategy
SBDC works in partnership with  
TourismWA to assist Aboriginal communities 
in the Kimberley to identify and develop 
culture and nature-based tourism 
opportunities at key sites. This includes 
along the northern coast, visited by tourist 
cruise ships. This business development is 
achieved by:

•	 Building the capacity of up to  
10 existing Aboriginal tourism 
businesses to export ready status;

•	 Working with two coastal Aboriginal 
communities to establish tourism 
products to service the cruise  
tourism market;

•	 Further enhancing the tourism 
experience at Mimbi Caves on  
Mt Pierre Station.

•	 Many Rivers Microfinance (MRM)
During 2012-13, the SBDC has continued 
to work with the Department of Aboriginal 
Affairs to support Many Rivers Microfinance. 
This program empowers individuals to 
establish micro and small businesses 
across the State, thereby extending the 
SBDC’s program reach to remote areas 
around Western Australia.

•	 Gnaala Karla Booja Employment  
and Economic Development  
Agreement (GKBEEDA)
GKBEEDA Working Party finalised and 
launched its 2012-2014 Strategic Plan 
during 2013, identifying SBDC as lead 
agency in the business leadership and 
governance development of Aboriginal 
enterprises within Gnaala Karla Booja (GKB 
country), south west of Perth. 

http://www.abdwa.com.au
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Policy and Advocacy
The SBDC makes a significant contribution to policy development, influencing 
legislation and regulations that impact on the small business sector, and simplifying 
compliance and administrative requirements where possible for the benefit of small 
business and the Western Australian economy.
During 2012-13, the SBDC ensured the 
impacts of policy decisions on the State’s 
small business sector were fully understood, 
negative aspects were minimised, and 
appropriate transition measures were in place 
to support businesses in changing regulatory 
environments. Central to this role was 
negotiating within government, raising issues 
and proposing possible solutions.

Significant resources were provided to 
support the Small Business Commissioner 
in examining the impact on construction 
subcontractors resulting from the actions of a 
public sector body. 

Red tape reduction is a priority for government 
and the SBDC plays a significant role in 
influencing the red tape agenda across a 
range of areas. During the year, the SBDC 
was heavily involved in retail tenancy issues 
and provided small business information and 
advice to the Department of Commerce in 
relation to proposed changes to the Commercial 
Tenancy (Retail Shops) Agreements Act 1985 
(CTA Act). 

Consultation with individual small businesses and 
stakeholder groups is of paramount importance 
for the Corporation. In 2012, the SBDC conducted 
the first in a series of State of Small Business 
surveys. This survey is fundamental in assisting 
the SBDC in the provision of evidence-based 
information and advice. 

Construction Subcontractor 
Investigation
In October 2012, the Small Business 
Commissioner was requested by the 
former Minister for Small Business,  

the Hon. Simon O’Brien MLC, to conduct 
an investigation into the non-payment of 
subcontractors resulting from head contractor 
insolvencies on construction projects 
administered by Building Management and 
Works (BMW) between 2008 and 2012. The 
investigation, which commenced in October 
2012 and concluded in March 2013, focused 
on the extent of the problem for subcontractors 
and the validity of their complaints.

Outcomes for 2012-13:
The SBDC received complaints and supporting 
documentation, conducted the investigation, 
liaised with subcontractors and other 
stakeholders and conducted research into the 
Western Australian construction industry. 

Interim advice on the investigation findings was 
provided to the Minister for Small Business 
in December 2012. The Small Business 
Commissioner’s final report including findings 
and recommendations was provided to the 
Minister for Small Business for consideration 
in March 2013.

On 26 June 2013, the Hon. Mike Nahan MLA, 
Minister for Finance, released the Small 
Business Commissioner’s report and 
announced that all recommendations had 
been accepted by the Government. The 
Minister also announced the establishment of 
a $5 million ex-gratia fund to be administered 
by RiskCover; the introduction of increased 
education resources for construction industry 
participants to better inform them of their rights 
and responsibilities; and a trial by BMW to 
implement project bank accounts for a range 
of its contracts.
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Reviews, submissions and 
consultations 
The SBDC actively monitors regulatory 
reviews and the development of new  
policy at all levels of government. Where 
there are potential impacts for small  
business in proposed changes or new 
regulations, the SBDC works to ensure 
the interests of the sector are considered 
by providing formal written submissions or 
discussing the proposals directly with the 
agency responsible. 

The SBDC regularly consults with key small 
business representative groups to keep abreast 
of issues concerning the sector and to inform 
the input it provides to government regulators. 
The SBDC maintains a strong working 
relationship with a number of representative 
groups including:

•	 Ready Response Network (849 members): 
regular email surveys are conducted on 
current and emerging issues affecting the 
small business sector to provide the SBDC 
with a gauge on small business opinions 
and sentiments. 

•	 Regional Chambers of Commerce and 
Industry of Western Australia (RCCIWA): 
the SBDC regularly liaises with the 
RCCIWA, which is the peak organisation 
representing the interests of regional small 
businesses in Western Australia. SBDC has 
a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) 
with RCCIWA. 

•	 Combined Small Business Alliance of 
Western Australia (CoSBA): the SBDC has 
a MOU with CoSBA in regard to promoting 
the development of small business in 
Western Australia. CoSBA is the peak small 
business organisation in Western Australia 
representing business associations, local 
chambers of commerce and other small 
business support organisations.

Outcomes for 2012-13:
During the year, the SBDC provided input  
to a number of reviews and regulatory 
proposals, including: 

•	 Review of the Liquor Control Act 1988;
•	 Draft Labour Relations Legislation 

Amendment and Repeal Bill 2012;
•	 Statutory Review of the Residential Parks 

(Long-Stay Tenants) Act 2006;
•	 On-selling of electricity to retail shops;
•	 Review of State Supply policies;
•	 Commercial Tenancy (Retail Shops) 

Agreements Regulations (No. 2) 2012;
•	 Review of the Franchising Code  

of Conduct;
•	 Productivity Commission Inquiry  

into Regulator Engagement with  
Small Business;

•	 National Consumer Credit Protection 
Amendment (Credit Reform Phase 2)  
Bill 2012;

•	 Productivity Commission’s Inquiry into 
Regulatory Impact Assessment Processes;

•	 ASIC’s proposed small  
business framework;

•	 COAG Red Tape Challenge Taskforce;
•	 Productivity Commission Benchmarking 

Study “The Role of Local Government  
as a Regulator”;

•	 Changes to the Code of Practice on 
Casual Mall leasing;

•	 Senate Inquiry into the Fair Work 
Amendment (Small Business Penalty 
Rates Exemption) Bill 2012; and

•	 Reform of Australian Contract Law.
Submissions to policy reviews and proposals 
have been successful in bringing small 
business needs to the attention of regulators, 
keeping their requirements at the forefront of 
deliberations on the form of regulation. This 
was particularly evident following the SBDC’s 
submissions on Regulator Engagement 
with Small Business and the Review of the 
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Franchising Code of Conduct, where positions 
taken by regulators reflected arguments made 
by the SBDC. 

The SBDC is a strong advocate for the Western 
Australian small business sector across a 
broad range of State and Federal Government 
working groups collaborating on key small 
business issues. Such representation provides 
a coordinated policy response and ensures 
the interests of Western Australian businesses 
are represented. See Appendix 1 on page 113.

Regulatory gatekeeping
The SBDC plays an important role in reviewing 
proposals to amend or implement new forms of 
regulation, as part of the State Government’s 
Regulatory Impact Assessment (RIA) process, 
administered by the Department of Treasury’s 
Regulatory Gatekeeping Unit (RGU). 

In Western Australia, RIA is a two-tiered 
process for assessing new and amended 
regulatory proposals. In the first instance, a 
Preliminary Impact Assessment (PIA) must 
be undertaken to determine impacts on 
business, consumers and/or the economy. If 
a significantly negative impact is identified, a 
detailed Regulatory Impact Statement (RIS) 
must be completed.

Since the introduction of the RIA process in 
2009, the SBDC has continued to play a role 
by way of:

•	 reviewing PIAs and RISs and providing 
comments to the RGU from a small 
business perspective; and

•	 providing direct assistance to State 
Government agencies in assessing (and 
attempting to minimise) the negative 
impacts of proposals on small businesses 
in Western Australia.

“The process of  
coming to WA as a 
business migrant can be 
daunting, but everyone 
at the SBDC Business 
Migration Centre is there  
to help.  

“You get the feeling they’re 
happy you’re here, and 
they want to give you 
all the help you need 
to meet your migration 
requirements and get your  
business underway.”

Andrew Skead 
Boatshed Fishco, 
Cottesloe



Page 36   Small Business Development Corporation  Annual Report 2013

Outcomes for 2012-13:
In the review period, the SBDC has reviewed 
15 PIAs originating from 10 State Government 
agencies, and submitted detailed comments 
in response to three RISs. 

When seeking to introduce new regulations or 
amend existing legislation that is likely to impact 
small businesses, agencies are encouraged 
to contact the SBDC early in the policy 
development process. The SBDC has also 
assisted agencies in consulting with relevant 
small business stakeholders to identify any 
unintended consequences that a proposal may 
produce. 

Small business ministerial link forums
Another role for the SBDC in advising the 
Minister is to ensure the voice of small business 
is heard. Throughout the year, the SBDC 
provided such opprotunities to the Minister for 
Small Business and Parliamentary Secretary 
for Small Business via small business 
ministerial link forums. These forums provide 
an avenue for small business operators and 
their representatives to meet directly with the 

Minister or Parliamentary Secretary to discuss 
key issues impacting their businesses or their 
regions generally. 

The forums are also valuable avenues for 
State government agencies to identify specific 
areas of red tape that can be addressed and 
to meet face-to-face with key stakeholders 
responsible for driving regional economies. 

Outcomes for 2012-13:
Small business ministerial link forums were 
held in Newman, Tom Price and Albany. The 
issues discussed in Tom Price and Newman 
were related to the geographical isolation of 
the region and the lack of local small business 
advice and support, the severe shortage 
of residential and tourist accommodation, 
inadequate child care services, the high cost 
of commercial and industrial premises, and the 
lack of supporting amenities in the towns.

Participants in the Albany Link Forum were 
concerned about the Government’s Buy 
Local policy and questioned its application 
by regional government officers. They were 
also concerned with the regulatory burden 

The SBDC has produced three comprehensive publications which incorporate recent  
changes to the CTA Act.

Page 36   Small Business Development Corporation  Annual Report 2013



Small Business Development Corporation  Annual Report 2013 

37

of government processes and the difference  
in retail trading hour regimes between the 
Perth metropolitan area and regional Western 
Australia.

Commercial tenancy legislation  
– policy support
While the Department of Commerce (Commerce) 
has legislative responsibility for retail tenancy 
legislation in Western Australia, the SBDC 
provides advice and guidance to retail tenants 
and landlords on their regulatory rights and 
obligations. 

Consequently, Commerce liaised extensively 
with the SBDC on the development of 
the Commercial Tenancy (Retail Shops) 
Agreements Act 1985 (CTA ACT) prior to 
its presentation to Parliament. The SBDC 
also provided high level advice on several 
amendments proposed by Opposition parties 
during the Act’s progression through the Upper 
House. 

Outcomes for 2012-13:
During the year in review, the SBDC advocated 
on behalf of small business throughout the 
drafting of the legislative amendments to 
ensure stronger protections in retail leasing 
arrangements. 

The SBDC was largely responsible for a range 
of amendments to the CTA Act which were 
introduced on 1 January 2013, to improve 
the tenancy rights of small businesses in 
their negotiations with landlords and enhance 
the CTA Act’s clarity and functionality. 
Amendments included prohibiting landlords 
from passing on legal fees associated 
with lease preparation; improving tenants’ 
security of tenure in regards to options to 
renew; redevelopment clauses and relocation 
clauses; and ensuring that landlords can be 
required to provide more information to valuers 
during lease negotiations, about comparable 
retail shops in the same building or shopping 
centre. 

State of Small Business project 
In the previous reporting period of 2011-12, the 
SBDC commenced the State of Small Business 
research project to improve evidence-based 
policy development for the small business 
sector in Western Australia. This project focused 
on surveying small businesses to collect data 
previously unavailable at State level. Topics 
included how small businesses performed 
in relation to business planning and training; 
workforce skills and capacity; compliance 
with government regulation; and the use of 
e-commerce. The SBDC Board recognised the 
importance of this research project and approved 
its continuation for up to three years. 

In early 2013, the SBDC again commissioned 
market research to undertake a telephone 
survey of 500 small businesses across the 
metropolitan and regional areas of Western 
Australia, with the final report to be presented 
to the SBDC in August 2013.

Outcomes for 2012-13:
The results of the survey have been frequently 
used by the SBDC to better inform government 
decision making for the small business sector 
and to enhance the SBDC workshop programs 
to meet the needs of small business owners. 

The survey results have also enabled the 
SBDC to identify particular skills and knowledge 
gaps which, over time, will allow the SBDC to 
identify and monitor small business trends e.g. 
how small businesses respond to economic 
events, changes in consumer confidence and 
retailing preferences.



Ministerial support 
The SBDC commits resources to providing 
support and advice to the Minister for Small 
Business on a variety of matters affecting the 
small business sector in Western Australia. 

The SBDC investigates and researches small 
business and industry trends as well as issues 
affecting individual business operators and 
different geographical areas. 

The SBDC is also a key reference point within 
government for providing advice on current 
policy issues and proposals, and in assisting 
the Government to achieve the best policy 
frameworks for small business.

Outcomes for 2012-13:
Throughout the year in review, the SBDC has:

•	 monitored the latest statistics and research 
relating to small business;

•	 consulted with key small business 
stakeholder groups;

•	 maintained close working relationships 
with relevant government agencies; and 

•	 informed the Minister for Small  
Business of current views among  
small business operators. 

Among the key issues investigated by the 
SBDC on behalf of the Minister were:

•	 Contract management in government
•	 State taxes
•	 Red tape
•	 Tendering to government
•	 Business migration, and
•	 Innovation.
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Mr James Pearson, CEO, CCIWA; Mr David Eaton, Small Business Commissioner; Minister for Small 
Business, the Hon. Liza Harvey MLA; Mr Mark Brennan, Federal Small Business Commissioner.
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Communications and Marketing 
Through a wide variety of communication and marketing options, the SBDC 
communicates with clients and stakeholders to raise awareness of support services 
available to small business, to promote the value of the sector to the State’s economy 
and to provide information on developing and growing successful businesses. 

The SBDC maximises its communications 
and marketing efforts through a range of 
earned, owned and paid media options. This 
is achieved via public relations, marketing, 
advertising and social media activities, as well 
as content marketing and news stories in local, 
state and interstate media. 

Sponsoring local small business awards and 
managing a State-wide awards program also 
provides opportunities for the SBDC to support 
local small business centres and chambers 
of commerce, while raising awareness of the 
SBDC and Small Business Centre services 
and the importance of small business to 
regional Western Australia.

During 2012-13 the SBDC continued this 
dissemination of information and promotion 
through a dedicated online media centre, 
as well as through speaking opportunities 
undertaken by the business advisory team 
and the Small Business Commissioner at a 
variety of events and forums. 

Throughout the year, the SBDC supported 
the Minister for Small Business through 
communications activities.

Outcomes for 2012-13:

Media and public relations
The SBDC makes good use of earned, owned 
and paid media on a variety of issues to raise 
awareness of the SBDC’s services and the 
small business sector. During the year, the 
SBDC conducted media and public relations 
campaigns on the following topics:

•	 explaining the changes to the Commercial 
Tenancy (Retail Shops) Agreements Act 
1985; 

•	 the introduction of Sunday trading; 
•	 issuing spam warnings to small 

businesses; 
•	 announcing the introduction of the 

Aboriginal Business Directory; and
•	 promoting the Alternative Dispute 

Resolution (ADR) service.
In October 2012, a dedicated media campaign 
was also conducted to support the investigation 
into the non-payment of subcontractors on 
construction projects administered by Building 
Management and Works (BMW) between 2008 
and 2012. Over seven weeks, a combination 
of print advertising in metropolitan and 
regional newspapers, radio (commercial and 
ABC), social media, print editorial and talk-
back radio was used to raise awareness of the 
investigation and encourage the participation 
of affected sub-contractors.

In April 2013, the SBDC was invited to 
participate in the new small business 
publication The Big Deal, produced by The 
West Australian newspaper. In its first edition, 
the 24 page lift-out featured an article from the 
Small Business Commissioner, stories quoting 
SBDC advisors, and articles featuring Small 
Business Centres.

Throughout the year, the SBDC has also 
contributed information and articles for 
inclusion in business and industry publications 
across the State.
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In 2012, the SBDC website introduced a 
dedicated online media centre featuring media 
releases, information on “What’s happening” 
in the world of small business, small business 
success stories featuring SBDC clients, as 
well as the latest statistics and survey data for 
use by journalists and media outlets.

Through ongoing media liaison, the SBDC 
is now well established amongst local, state 
and national journalists as a reliable source of 
small business information and relevant, timely 
facts and statistics. The SBDC is also a ready 
source of leads for small business operators 
with interesting stories to tell.

Electronic communications
The SBDC continues to engage with 
stakeholders through its e-newsletter, which 
was distributed seven times during the year; six 
standard editions and a special publication to 
highlight the success of the regional business 
awards. 5,400 contacts now regularly receive 
the newsletter. Subscribers include business 
owners, industry and business associations, 
chambers of commerce and industry and SBC 
managers.

Stakeholder engagement continued to grow 
during the year in review, through social media 
and by adopting a more strategic approach 
to regular messaging and tighter terms and 
conditions of engagement. Almost 2,400 
people now ‘like’ the SBDC’s Facebook page, 
a 43 per cent increase on the previous year. 
Over the course of 12 months, 195 posts were 
made on the SBDC page, seen by more than 
96,000 unique users. One of the most popular 
and widely spread stories featured The Big 
Deal liftout in The West Australian, which 
focused on successful small businesses in 
Western Australia.

Sixty per cent of the SBDC’s Facebook 
followers are female (higher than the 46 per 
cent average across all Facebook). The profile 
is also more heavily skewed towards the 25-
34 and 35-44 age groups than the general 
Facebook age distribution, reflecting the 

profile of small business owners. Almost 90 
per cent of followers are based in Australia and 
almost 90 per cent of these are from Western 
Australia, indicating that a connection is being 
made with the target audience. 

Business presentations and functions
During 2012-13, the SBDC promoted its 
services through a range of events and 
presentations to key stakeholders.

The SBDC hosted events including a reception 
to welcome the newly appointed Australian 
Small Business Commissioner, Mr Mark 
Brennan, on his first visit to Western Australia, 
and an event held jointly with the Australian 
Competition and Consumer Commission to 
raise awareness of National Fraud Week. 
The latter event featured the launch of new 
research by Curtin University into the effect of 
scams on the small business sector. 

SBDC also partnered with the Department of 
State Development and the Office of Women’s 
Interests to present a luncheon in celebration 
of ‘Inspiring Entrepreneurship for Women in 
Business’. 

Throughout the year in review, the SBDC 
hosted four networking events for business 
migrants now residing in Western Australia. 
These popular events attracted more than 
100 guests on each occasion, and speakers 
included business migrants who shared stories 
of their life journey and business success.

The business skills and expertise of SBDC’s 
business advisors were called upon when 
they were asked to participate in State judging 
panels for high profile business award programs 
including the Telstra Business Awards, the 40 
under 40 Awards and the Western Australian 
Training Awards.
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Small business sponsorships and support
During 2012-13 sponsorship and support to 
a value of $72,000 was provided to 20 small 
business awards programs throughout the 
State, from Esperance to Port Hedland. These 
programs, managed by local Small Business 
Centres, chambers of commerce and business 
associations help raise the profile of small 
business in regional areas, and acknowledge 
the significant economic contribution made 
by small business to the local community. 
Building strong networks with this diverse 
range of small business organisations also 
provides a means of direct communication 
to many individual small businesses located 
around the State. 

Sponsorship to the value of $68,000 was 
provided to a range of other key industry award 
programs and events; including the WA Retail 
Awards, the Australian Hotels Association 
Supplier Awards, the Wanneroo Business 
Association Expo and the South East Metro 
Business Expo.

Through this support, the SBDC services 
received extensive exposure to potential  
and existing clients, plus an opportunity to 
speak and present awards at the associated 
awards evenings, further promoting the 
services of the SBDC.

Marketing materials and publications
During 2012-13 the SBDC re-branded, 
updated and consolidated its outward 
presentation with a new corporate design. 
This included a refresh of the agency’s  
logo and the creation of an overall new ‘look 
and feel’. 

The SBDC’s two-piece logo (incorporating the 
SBDC emblem and the State Government 
crest) has now been replaced with a single 
State Government crest. To minimise the cost 
impact, this change will be progressively rolled 
out across the agency as material is updated 
and replaced. 

Sponsorship and support to a value of $72,000 was provided to 20 small business  
awards programs throughout the State.
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Advertising expenditure
A limited advertising campaign ran from 
October 2012 to end June 2013 focussing 
on support for regional Small Business 
Centres. TV advertisements were used to 
raise awareness of the SBC’s services and 
to encourage people to call a central number 
which would direct them to their local Centre. 
Press advertising was used on an ad hoc basis 
in support of the SBDC’s services.

GWN7 Western Australian Regional Small 
Business Awards (WARSBA)
The annual WARSBA gala presentation event 
was held in Perth in November 2012. The 
WARSBA recognise the achievements of the 
regional small business sector and provide 
State-wide recognition for businesses that 
have been successful in local business award 
programs supported by the SBDC. 

The 2012 WARSBA event was attended by the 
Minister for Small Business, small business 
operators, their families and friends, managers 
and chairs of Small Business Centres, regional 
chambers of commerce and industry, and 
business associations, along with sponsoring 
companies and media representatives. 

Naming rights sponsor, GWN7 Television 
Network provided free television advertising 
for the awards, valued at over $100,000.

The winners for 2012 were:

•	 Business of the Year –  
The House Factory, Kununurra

•	 Best Home Based Business –  
West Coast Trail Bike Safaris, Kirup

•	 Best Franchise Business –  
Allied Pickfords, Esperance

•	 Best Business Achiever –  
Signature Music, Karratha 

•	 Best Aboriginal Business –  
REFAP (Real Employment for Aboriginal 
People) Karratha

•	 Best Micro Business –  
Out of Sight Tours, Denmark

•	 Best Business with 5-10 employees –  
The House Factory, Kununurra

•	 Best business with 10-20 employees – 
ESM Manufacturing Group, Esperance

The 2012 Regional Small Business Hall 
of Fame Inductee was Mr Grant Cucel 
from Karratha who was recognised for his 
outstanding service to small business through 
his work with the Small Business Centre, West 
Pilbara. 

The event received good media coverage, 
including 28 print media articles, along with 
advertisements in The West Australian and 
Regional Lifestyle Magazine.

Alex Robertson and Kent Osmotherly, The House 
Factory, winners of the 2012 GWN7 WARSBA  
Regional Small Business of the Year Award.
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Corporate Resources
Responsible for the management of financial and physical resources, information 
resources, human resources and online resources.

Strategic planning
During the year, a review of the Corporation’s 
strategic direction was undertaken, culminating 
in the development of the 2013-2017 Small 
Business Development Corporation Strategic 
Plan. 

Outcomes for 2012-13:
The review drew on the knowledge and 
expertise of SBDC employees, managers, 
executives and board. In addition, there 
was wide consultation with key external 
stakeholders to ensure a broad perspective of 
SBDC’s and future direction, and to build better 
relationships with stakeholders to continue to 
develop and build a strong small business 
sector in Western Australia. 

Workforce development  
and performance 
During the year in review, a new Performance 
Development Plan (PDP) was developed and 
implemented to achieve a more streamlined 
process that assists both the individual and 
their business unit to meet the objectives of 
the Corporation’s Operational and Strategic 
plan. Plans are in place to further increase 
employee participation in this process and 
provide coaching to managers on how to make 
the process more valuable to the business unit 
and the employees’ development. 

Outcomes for 2012-13:
As a result of the PDP process, a number 
of key areas of caperbility were identified for 
employee development.

As much of the work undertaken by the SBDC 
is now project focused, project management 
was identified by staff across all business units 
as an area requiring further development. This 
training was delivered in-house and covered the 
foundations of project management including 
project phases, stakeholder relationships and 
budget allocation. 

The SBDC also continued to provide staff 
development through secondments and acting 
opportunities where appropriate, to enhance 
skills and career development. 

Business insight program
In April 2013, the program (formerly known as 
BizBites) changed its name to Business Insight 
to better reflect the programs’ objectives 
of knowledge sharing and broadening 
awareness.

The SBDC acknowledges the importance of 
keeping its staff well informed of the latest 
business trends, issues, and changes in 
legislation. To this end, speakers are invited 
from private enterprise and government 
departments to share their knowledge and 
information with SBDC staff. 

Business Insight sessions are organised to 
meet the professional development needs of 
SBDC staff and increase their understanding 
of a variety of different business topics.

The SBDC is committed to providing information 
and guidance based on a thorough and up to 
date understanding of issues that affect small 
business operators. Business Insight sessions 
help keep SBDC advisory staff well-informed, 
and help the SBDC build beneficial alliances 
with other government agencies at State and 
Federal level.
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Outcomes for 2012-13:
This year the Business Insight program 
conducted twelve presentations for SBDC 
staff members covering the following topics:

•	 procedures of the magistrates court;
•	 cloud computing and it’s benefits  

for small business;
•	 carbon tax and operating a carbon 

neutral business;
•	 introduction to social media;
•	 estate planning and succession;
•	 effective presentation skills;
•	 accessing the resources of the 

Australian Bureau of Statistics;
•	 importance of Workcover and workers 

compensation obligations;
•	 crowd funding – (a method of using 

online platforms to seek project funding 
from multiple source points ‘crowds’);

•	 changes to superannuation  
guarantee obligations;

•	 Personal Properties Securities Act; and
•	 social media strategy for small business.

Decommissioning of Office of Shared 
Services - Return of corporate services 
In July 2011, the State Government accepted 
the recommendation of the Western 
Australian Economic Regulation Authority to 
decommission the Office of Shared Services.

In November 2012, the SBDC, as part of this 
decommissioning, developed a business case 
to cluster SBDC with the Western Australian 
Tourism Commission (Tourism WA).

Outcomes for 2012-13:
May 2013 saw the finalisation of SBDC’s 
transition from Shared Services, and the 
return of transactional finance and human 
resources/payroll services. The achievement 
of this milestone was the culmination of more 
than 12 months collaboration with Tourism WA 
and other agencies, including:

Jack and Allison Grobowski  
and the team from Allied 

Pickfords Esperance, winners of 
the 2012  GWN7 WARSBA Best 

Franchise Award
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•	 The establishment of a cluster 
arrangement with Tourism WA to work 
on the implementation of effective 
finance and payroll systems to achieve 
financial and efficiency benefits, 
whilst minimising the overall costs to 
government.

•	 The development of a business case  
to progress the project, which was 
approved by the Department of  
Finance Decommissioning Office  
in November 2012.

•	 Developing system specifications and 
seeking quotations for the procurement 
and implementation of suitable 
systems. 

•	 The implementation of an effective 
finance solution based on common 
configuration for accounts structure, 
charts and reporting. 

•	 The establishment of a functional HR/
payroll system that included a well 
designed and user-friendly web kiosk, 
the ability to interface with key external 
systems and excellent product support, 
and

•	 The delivery of effective training to all 
users of both systems.

Occupational safety and health (OS&H)
The SBDC continues to use the WorkSafe Plan, 
where applicable, because it systematically 
measures how well OS&H is being managed 
across the SBDC. The WorkSafe Plan has five 
elements, each with a standard that describes 
the performance expected for that element. The 
five elements are:

•	 Management commitment
•	 Planning
•	 Consultation and reporting
•	 Hazard management 
•	 Training and supervision 

To create a positive OS&H culture, all new 
staff, including contractors, undergo a full 
induction that includes awareness of:

•	 The OS&H Management System  
and policy

•	 Hazard identification and accident/
incident reporting

•	 Location of first aid kits
•	 Contact names of first aid officers
•	 Injury Management System and policy
•	 Evacuation procedures

It is SBDC policy to comply with all provisions 
of the Occupational Safety and Health Act 
1984, and Regulations and Code of Practice: 
Occupational Safety and Health in the Western 
Australian Public Sector. 

Consultative mechanisms
The SBDC acknowledges its responsibility 
for consultation on OS&H matters in the 
workplace. A consultative process is provided 
through monthly all-of-staff meetings, team 
meetings, and by individual incident reporting. 
The OS&H Management System, Injury 
Management System and related policies are 
made available to all staff via the extranet. 
OS&H matters and issues are a standing 
agenda item at all Board meetings. 

Injury management system
The Injury Management System has been 
developed to support the SBDC’s Injury 
Management Policy and is fully compliant with 
the requirements of the Workers’ Compensation 
and Injury Management Act 1981. 

Workers’ compensation
The SBDC is committed to managing 
employees who sustain an injury or illness at 
work or elsewhere. The Corporation applies 
a practical claims management approach 
to injury management and rehabilitation. To  
30 June, 2013, no workers’ compensation 
claims were lodged and there was no lost time. 

Information on how to lodge a workers’ 
compensation claim is provided by the Human 
Resources Coordinator and Director Corporate 
Resources on a proactive basis following the 
reporting of any OS&H incidents. 
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Indicator 2011/12 
Actual

2012/13 
Target 

2012/13  
Result 

Number of fatalities 0 0 0

Lost time injury/disease 
(LTI/D)

0 0 or 10% 
reduction on 
previous year

Maintained zero result

Lost time injury/disease 
severity rate

0 0 or 10% 
improvement on 
previous year

Maintained zero result

Percentage of injured workers 
returned to work within (i) 13 
weeks and (ii) 26 weeks. 

100% 100% N/A no injured workers 

Percentage of managers 
trained in occupational 
safety, health and injury 
management responsibilities 

72.7 % Greater than or 
equal to 50%

Achieved, 60% of managers, 
directors and supervisors 
trained in OHS and injury 
management (10% above 
target rate) 

Promoting and supporting employee health 
and wellbeing 
SBDC employees are encouraged to participate 
in fitness classes and other in-house health 
initiatives. This year, staff benefited from 
attending pilates and yoga classes organised 
by the Department of Planning. These classes 
catered for beginner and intermediate levels. 

The SBDC continues to provide incentives 
to employees to promote and maintain their 
health and wellbeing. These include ergonomic 
assessments and influenza vaccinations. 

Personal resiliency  
and mental health first aid 
The SBDC advisory service regularly deals with 
clients who are experiencing difficulties in their 
businesses. During the year, it became evident 
that there was an increase in the number of 
clients who were dealing with disputes and 
other issues resulting in heightened levels of 
emotion and distress. 

In response, the SBDC implemented a staff 

training course, delivered over two days. The 
major objective was to assist staff to manage 
their stress levels as well as provide tools 
to effectively handle difficult or emotional 
situations and de-escalate any challenging 
behaviour from clients. Below is a summary of 
each workshop:

Personal Resiliency Skills for Frontline Staff 
covered the impact of distressed customers 
on staff, with a focus on understanding trauma 
in general, and how to employ diffusing 
techniques. It also included strategies for 
staff to improve self-care and management 
of external stressors. Staff were invited to 
examine current work processes that may be 
impairing work efficacy (thus causing stress) 
and to suggest changes that may enable them 
to work more effectively, with less stress. 

Mental Health Awareness for Frontline Staff 
focused on providing mental health first aid 
to customers and identifying when customers 
might be at risk. Particularly, what staff can do 
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in situations where a customer is distressed or 
suffering from a mental health condition such 
as depression or anxiety. 

Feedback from staff attending these workshops 
was positive. To underpin the training, a policy 
on responding to challenging incidents was 
developed and circulated to staff. 

Online resources and information 
technology

SBDC websites
The SBDC website is maintained by in-house 
resources with new and updated information, 
tools, templates and guides continually added 
to enhance the range of online resources 
available for potential and existing small 
business operators.

The websie enables those who are considering, 
starting or currently operating a small business 
to quickly find the information they need in an 
easy to read format. An analysis of the keywords 
used by visitors to the website and the nature of 
their enquiries as tracked by the Small Business 
Services team, indicate visitors to the website are 
attempting the same core small-business tasks.

For example:

•	 get the right licence;

•	 register a business name;

•	 recover a debt;

•	 start a business;

•	 find out what it means to be a sole trader;

•	 learn about business finances;

•	 get help with contracts and contracting;

•	 commercial leasing/tenancy/property;

•	 legally manage the termination of employees; 

•	 getting to grips with the laws that apply to 
small business; and 

•	 how to comply with legal obligations.

Outcomes for 2012-13:
During 2012-13, a significant increase in the 
number of visitors to the main SBDC website 
has been achieved, with the number of clients 
spending four minutes or more increasing by 
65 per cent.

A new online tool was developed to support 
Western Australian small business retailers 
with the introduction of extended trading hours. 
The “Open for Business” calculator assisted 
small businesses estimate any additional costs 
they may incur as a result of extending trading. 
This information, along with other important 
criteria including profitability, market share and 
actions of competitors, assisted in the decision 
by retailers to open for extra trading hours.

Information technology
During the year, a comprehensive review of data 
storage and server infrastructure requirements 
was undertaken with a view to ensure that future 
needs for mission critical systems can be met and 
managed. With a particular focus on reliability, 
flexibility and scalability, a suitable solution has 
been procured that will be implemented in August 
2013.
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Significant Issues Impacting  
the Agency
•	 Uncertain global economic conditions 

experienced by the small business 
sector in Western Australia during 2012-
13 have caused many small business 
owners to find themselves in less than 
ideal business situations. The Alternative 
Dispute Resolution (ADR) service was 
established at the SBDC in March 2012 
to help small businesses resolve disputes 
with other businesses and government 
agencies. Since its inception, demand for 
the service has grown significantly. To meet 
this demand, the SBDC has implemented 
changes to client management systems, 
staffing arrangements and administration. 

•	 In October 2012, the Small Business 
Commissioner was called upon to use the 
powers invested in the position, to undertake 
an investigation into the non-payment of 
subcontractors on construction projects 
administered by Building Management 
and Works between 2008 and 2012. The 
investigation focused on the extent and 
validity of the problem relating to financial 
and personal impacts on subcontractors 
caused by head contractor insolvencies. 

A final report including findings and 
recommendations was provided to 
the Minister for Small Business for 
consideration in March 2013. This 
investigation, conducted over six 
months, was led by the Commissioner  
and involved considerable input from SBDC 
staff.

•	 Business migrants are a prime source of 
new capital, business investment, export 
income and employment generation for 
Western Australia and have a significant 
impact on the State’s economy. Through 
the Western Australian Business  

Migration Program, the SBDC is responsible 
for managing and administering State 
nomination on behalf of the Government. In 
2012-13, the Business Migration Program 
attracted $260,502,656 in new capital 
inflow for the Western Australian economy. 

During 2012-13, the Commonwealth 
Department of Immigration and Citizenship 
introduced a new Business Innovation and 
Investment program for business migrants 
coming to Australia. This program includes 
significant changes that will result in lower 
numbers of business migrants entering the 
State, but at a higher economic value to the 
State.

•	 The Commercial Tenancy (Retail Shops) 
Agreements Act 1985 (the CTA Act) 
regulates retail tenancy agreements for 
most retail shop premises in Western 
Australia. Significant amendments to the 
CTA Act and the Commercial Tenancy 
(Retail Shops) Agreements Regulations 
1985 came into effect on 1 January 2013. 
These amendments, part of a package of  
reforms to assist small business,  
impacted on all landlords and tenants  
of retail shop premises. 

To assist small business tenants and 
landlords to understand and comply with 
these amendments, the SBDC produced 
three publications explaining the CTA Act 
and the amendments. In addition, specialist 
advisory staff have been designated to 
handle the increased number of commercial 
tenancy enquiries received by email, phone 
and in person.

•	 Western Australia has the fastest growing 
population in the nation, bringing with 
it a growing demand for small business 
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start-up information and business skills 
training. To address this need, the 
Corporation is enhancing its current 
service delivery model by partnering with 
industry representative organisations to 
provide tailored business workshops for 
their members. This initiative will enable 
the SBDC to reach a wider group of small 
business operators in a shorter timeframe, 
and at a reduced cost, while enhancing 
participants’ business acumen, thereby 
helping to build a more resilient and 
robust small business sector in Western 
Australia. 

•	 Ongoing enhancements to the SBDC 
information technology systems and 
the increased use of online facilities 
for information dissemination and 
registrations will continue to increase the 
efficiency and capacity of the SBDC.

SBDC client Mr Ashley Whitworth of Embroid Me, Perth.  There are more than 211,000 small 
businesses in Western Australia, representing 95.2 per cent of all businesses in the State.
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Disclosures and Legal Compliance
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Auditor General

Page 1 of 3

7th Floor Albert Facey House 469 Wellington Street Perth  MAIL TO: Perth BC PO Box 8489 Perth WA 6849  TEL: 08 6557 7500  FAX: 08 6557 7600

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Parliament of Western Australia

SMALL BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

Report on the Financial Statements
I have audited the accounts and financial statements of the Small Business Development 
Corporation.

The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2013, the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash 
Flows for the year then ended, and Notes comprising a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information.

Corporation’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
The Corporation is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 
and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and for such internal control as the Corporation determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
financial statements based on my audit. The audit was conducted in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards. Those Standards require compliance with relevant ethical 
requirements relating to audit engagements and that the audit be planned and performed to 
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the Corporation’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Corporation, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion.

Opinion
In my opinion, the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Small Business Development Corporation at 
30 June 2013 and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended. They are in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions.
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Report on Controls
I have audited the controls exercised by the Small Business Development Corporation during 
the year ended 30 June 2013.

Controls exercised by the Small Business Development Corporation are those policies and 
procedures established by the Corporation to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and 
investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities 
have been in accordance with legislative provisions.

Corporation’s Responsibility for Controls
The Corporation is responsible for maintaining an adequate system of internal control to ensure 
that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of public 
and other property, and the incurring of liabilities are in accordance with the Financial 
Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and other relevant written law.

Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
controls exercised by the Small Business Development Corporation based on my audit 
conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of 
controls to ensure that the Corporation complies with the legislative provisions. The procedures 
selected depend on the auditor’s judgement and include an evaluation of the design and 
implementation of relevant controls.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion.

Opinion
In my opinion, the controls exercised by the Small Business Development Corporation are 
sufficiently adequate to provide reasonable assurance that the receipt, expenditure and 
investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities 
have been in accordance with legislative provisions during the year ended 30 June 2013.

Report on the Key Performance Indicators
I have audited the key performance indicators of the Small Business Development Corporation
for the year ended 30 June 2013.

The key performance indicators are the key effectiveness indicators and the key efficiency 
indicators that provide information on outcome achievement and service provision.

Corporation’s Responsibility for the Key Performance Indicators
The Corporation is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the key performance 
indicators in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s 
Instructions and for such controls as the Corporation determines necessary to ensure that the 
key performance indicators fairly represent indicated performance.

Auditor’s Responsibility
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
key performance indicators based on my audit conducted in accordance with Australian 
Auditing and Assurance Standards. 
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An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the key performance 
indicators. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the key performance indicators. In making 
these risk assessments the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Corporation’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the key performance indicators in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the 
relevance and appropriateness of the key performance indicators for measuring the extent of 
outcome achievement and service provision.

I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion.

Opinion
In my opinion, the key performance indicators of the Small Business Development Corporation
are relevant and appropriate to assist users to assess the Corporation’s performance and fairly 
represent indicated performance for the year ended 30 June 2013.

Independence
In conducting this audit, I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor 
General Act 2006 and Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards, and other relevant ethical 
requirements. 

Matters Relating to the Electronic Publication of the Audited Financial Statements and 
Key Performance Indicators
This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements and key performance indicators of the 
Small Business Development Corporation for the year ended 30 June 2013 included on the 
Corporation’s website. The Corporation’s management is responsible for the integrity of the 
Corporation’s website. This audit does not provide assurance on the integrity of the 
Corporation’s website. The auditor’s report refers only to the financial statements and key 
performance indicators described above. It does not provide an opinion on any other 
information which may have been hyperlinked to/from these financial statements or key 
performance indicators. If users of the financial statements and key performance indicators are 
concerned with the inherent risks arising from publication on a website, they are advised to 
refer to the hard copy of the audited financial statements and key performance indicators to 
confirm the information contained in this website version of the financial statements and key 
performance indicators.

DON CUNNINGHAME
ASSISTANT AUDITOR GENERAL ASSURANCE SERVICES
Delegate of the Auditor General for Western Australia
Perth, Western Australia
13 September 2013
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Certification of Key  
Performance Indicators
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Key Performance Indicators
The Small Business Development Corporation (SBDC) operates under the broad high level 
government strategic goal “to responsibly manage the State’s finances through the efficient and 
effective delivery of services, encourage economic activity and reduce regulatory burdens on the 
private sector”. To meet this goal, SBDC’s mission is “to create opportunity and wealth for small 
to medium sized businesses in Western Australia”.

SBDC’s outcome and services that link with this government goal are shown in the table below.

Government Goal Desired 
Outcome

Services

Financial and Economic Responsibility:

Responsibly managing the State’s finances 
through the efficient and effective delivery of 
services, encouraging economic activity and 
reducing regulatory burdens on the private sector.

Development of 
new and existing 

small business 
in Western 

Australia. 

Information, 
guidance, referral 

and business 
development 

services.

In 2012-13, SBDC achieved this desired 
outcome by:

The provision of specialised information, 
referral and business facilitation services for 
the effective development of enterprises in 
Western Australia.

The following outlines the key effectiveness 
and efficiency indicators that have been 
developed to measure SBDC’s performance.

Key effectiveness indicators
The effectiveness of the SBDC in meeting its 
outcome is measured by: 

•	 Client surveys with key stakeholder groups, 
namely:
-	 Small business owners - those who  

are already operating their own business; 
and 

-	 Small business starters - those planning 
or contemplating operating a business in 
the future.

•	 The impact of business migration to the 
State, namely:
-	 New businesses planned by business 

migrants.

Client opinion of the services provided 
by SBDC 
The SBDC provides a range of small business 
services to those in business as well as those 
planning on starting or buying a business. 
(Refer Report on Operations for details of 
these services, page 17). The SBDC also 
provides core business facilitation services 
in major centres across the State through the 
provision of funding for the network of 25 Small 
Business Centres (SBC). The effectiveness of 
small business services is measured by client 
surveys of those who have contacted the 
SBDC and SBC during 2012-13.
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Key effectiveness indicators used to measure 
SBDC’s performance in achieving its desired 
outcome are subject to regular review, with 
indicators refined to reflect the services 
delivered to key client groups.

Key effectiveness indicators are:

•	 Usefulness of the information and guidance 
provided (asked of all personal client 
contacts surveyed);

•	 Contribution the service made to an 
informed decision to start or buy a business 
(asked only of those who were planning 
or contemplating starting or buying a 
business);

•	 The extent the information or guidance 
benefited the operations of the business 
(asked of business clients who had met with 
a SBC manager or with a SBDC advisor); and

•	 The value of the guidance or information 
received (asked of business clients who 
had met with a SBC manager, had visited 
the Business Information Centre or met 
with a SBDC advisor). 

The measures reported below are based on 
two telephone surveys conducted during 
2012-13 of random samples of SBDC and 
SBC clients. They have been carried out by 
an independent market research company 
to ensure maximum objectivity.1 Results from 
an evaluation of those who had attended 
workshops at the SBDC were also taken into 
account where appropriate.
The effectiveness measures reported 
below combine the client scores of both the 
SBDC and the SBC network. High customer 
satisfaction with services has been maintained 
over several years with indicators measured 
in 2012-13 showing no statistically significant 
shifts at the 95 per cent confidence level in 
comparison with the previous three years. 

1The performance evaluation for 2012-13 where clients were contacted by telephone was undertaken by Advantage Communications and 
Marketing.  Telephone surveys were undertaken with random selections of clients who had directly sought information and guidance during 
2012-13.  711 client surveys were achieved to give a maximum standard error ratio of + / - 3.5% at the 95% confidence level.  Overall, 85% 
of respondents contacted agreed to participate in the survey.  The valid sample for each service area was as follows:

Table 1: Summary of clients surveyed as part of SBDC’s 2012-13 performance evaluation.

Business Operators Business Starters Total Sample

Clients - Direct 
advice

2010 
-11

2011 
-12

2012 
-13

2010 
-11

2011 
-12

2012 
-13

2010 
-11

2011 
-12

2012 
-13

Small Business 
Services

107 138 196 93 68 65 200 206 261

Business 
Information Centre

45 66 30 155 139 170 200 205 200

Workshop 
attendees1

503 305 557 1272 631 939 1775 936 1496

Small Business 
Centres

136 148 138 114 102 112 250 250 250

Total 791 657 921 1634 940 1286 2425 1597 2207

1 All 1,818 who had attended a Program Workshop at the SBDC in 2012-13 were asked to complete an evaluation at the end of the workshop, 
with 1,496 (or 82%) of all attendees completing a survey form and nominating if they were in business or planning or contemplating starting 
a business.
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Usefulness of the information or guidance provided
All clients surveyed were asked “How would you rate the usefulness of the information / guidance 
provided to you?” 

93% of survey participants rated the information/guidance provided as very or somewhat useful 
in 2012-13 compared to 94% in 2011-12, 88% in 2010-11 and 91% in 2009-10 and 2008-09. The 
target for 2012-13 was 91%.

Contribution of service to start-up decisions
All clients interviewed who were either contemplating, planning or in the process of starting or buying a 
business were asked “Would you say your contact with the SBDC / SBC directly contributed to you making 
an informed decision about starting or buying your business?”

There was a minor reduction compared to the last year in the number of business starters who 
believed the services of the SBDC/SBC had directly contributed to their decision to start or buy a 
business. In 2012-13, 78% gave a positive response compared to 80% in 2011-12, 78% in 2010-11, 
69% in 2009-10 and 72% in 2008-09. The target for 2012-13 was 74%.
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The benefit of the information or guidance received on business operations
All clients who were in business and had met with a Small Business Centre manager or a SBDC advisor 
(that is they had longer than a brief telephone conversation) were asked “To what extent has the information 
or guidance received benefited the operations of your business?” Overall, 82% of business owners said 
the information or advice had benefited the operations of their business to a great, or to some extent. 
This is comparable with 2011-12 and 2010-11 (83%) and represents an increase against the results 
achieved in 2009-10 and 2008-09 (78% and 81% respectively). The target for 2012-13 was 81%.

Value of the information / guidance received
All business clients interviewed who had met with a Small Business Centre manager or a SBDC 
advisor or had contacted the Business Information Centre were asked “How would you rate the 
value of the information or guidance you received?”

84% of those surveyed said they valued the information or guidance received which is similar 
to 2011-12 (85%) but a significant increase on the results achieved in 2010-11 (77%), 2009-10 
(79%) and 2008-09 (76%). The target for 2012-13 was 80%.
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Impact of Business Migration on the State - Business Migration Program
The key role of the Business Migration Program is to attract business migrants to Western Australia 
to invest in its economic growth and development. The Program is a successful investment 
attraction initiative for Western Australia and business migrants make a significant contribution to 
the State’s economic prosperity by being a leading source of new capital investment, business 
establishment, export income and employment generation. 

In 2012/13, the SBDC granted State nomination for 302 business migrants, and registration for 
one further business migrant for a non-nominated visa from prime markets in China, South Africa, 
the UK, Malaysia, Singapore and 21 other countries to invest in Western Australia. 

From 1 July 2012 to 30 June 2013, 135 business migrants granted permanent residency visas 
finalised their investment in Western Australia. 

The table below shows the confirmed economic benefit of the business migration program to 
Western Australia for this period and the impact on the State’s economy for the financial year 
under review.

Table 2: Confirmed WA investment from Permanent Residency Business visa holders 

B u s i n e s s 
migration2

2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13

Total Capital Inflow $267,664,550 $293,437,685 $304,524,805 $260,502,656

Capital In Business $71,889,383 $109,194,262 $104,316,671 $77,966,279

WA Treasury Bonds $12,000,000 $18,750,000 $21,000,000 $20,500,000

Jobs Created 254 227 145 90

Businesses Exporting 30 20 21 13

2From 1 July 2012 the Department of Immigration and Citizenship introduced the new Business Innovation and Investment Program for 
business migrants to come to Australia. This program introduced two key changes over the previous Business Migration Program which 
will affect the program in the future, delivering lower numbers of business migrants but of a higher economic value:

•	 Business migrants can no longer apply for a business visa without the nomination of a state or territory government; and

•	 Personal criteria for entry into Australia as a business migrant was significantly increased and financial requirements in the main visas 
were increased by over 50 per cent.

Businesses established by migrants with confirmed investments range across the full spectrum of business activity in the State. Export 
businesses are, in the main, focused on agricultural products and mining resources.
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Customer Service Index
The Customer Service Index was introduced to measure the extent to which the SBDC and 
the SBC network satisfied customer enquiries and requests for assistance. Questions asked 
were included in the Performance Evaluation Survey. The Customer Service Index comprises 
five individual performance indicators focusing on both the process and outcomes of providing 
services to clients. 

The Customer Service Index rating of 92% in 2012-13 compares favourably against the scores 
achieved in the previous years (92% in 2011-12, 90% in 2010-11, 91% in 2009-10 and 92% in 
2008-09). The target for 2012-13 was 91%.
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Table 3: Indicators showing the positive response that comprise the Customer Service Index 
over the last five years along with the target for 2012-13 are shown in the table below.

2008-09 
%

2009-10 
%

2010-11 
%

2011-12 
%

2012-13 
%

2012-13 
Target

Usefulness:  
How useful was 
the information and 
guidance provided 
to you?

91 91 88 94 93 91

Business 
operations:  
To what 
extent has the 
information or 
guidance received 
benefited the 
operations of your 
business?

81 78 84 83 82 81

Access: 
Would you 
describe the task 
of accessing the 
service as being 
easy or difficult? 

96 93 94 94 95 95

Service: 
How would you 
rate the overall 
level of customer 
service provided 
by the staff?

96 95 93 94 95 95

Repeat: 
Would you use 
the service(s) 
again if the need 
arose?

94 96 93 94 93 95

Customer 
Service Index

92 91 90 92 92 91
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Efficiency Indicators
Efficiency Indicators relate outputs to the level of resource inputs required to produce them. 

OUTPUT: Information, Guidance, Referral and Business Development Services
Provision of specialised information, referral and business facilitation services for the effective 
development of enterprises in Western Australia.

Four Efficiency Indicators are provided. The score for each Indicator as well as the comparative 
scores set in 2011-12, 2010-11, 2009-10 and 2008-09 along with the target for 2012-13 are set 
out below.

Efficiency 
indicators

2012-13 
Target

 2012-13 Actual 2011-12 2010-11 2009-10 2008-09

Cost for direct 
client contacts

Number of direct 
client contacts / 
equivalents3

 
$28.10

 
$7,096,023

247,152

 
$28.71

 
$32.56

 
$34.20

 
 $25.73

 
$18.87

Cost for indirect 
client contacts

Number of 
indirect client 
contacts4

 
 $3.40

 
$230,036

87,027

 
$2.64

 
$3.28

 
$3.22

  
$2.34

 
$2.36

Cost of SBC 
services5

Number of SBC 
client contacts

 
$95.09

 
$4,884,793

51,085

 
$95.62

 
$96.20

 
$92.00

 
$75.81

 
$84.81

Policy Advice6 $1,305,217 $1,070,579 $1,487,976 $1,292,736 $1,322,430 $1,254,049

The target for 2012-13 is as published in the 2012-13 Budget Statements (Budget Paper No 2 Volume 2) Page 474. 

3: Number of direct client contacts is as specified in the Output Measures 
(refer Report on Operations) namely:  Clients – direct advice (246,830) 
plus the number of ‘equivalent direct clients’ serviced through the 
provision of grant money (322) equals 247,152

Explanation: Direct client contacts have contacted the SBDC for 
guidance or information either by a personal visit, by telephone or have 
visited SBDC websites for four minutes or more, or have downloaded a 
license pack from the Business Licence Finder. 

Grants are given under the Drought Relief Program (DRP) which provides 
funding to assist small businesses to deal with the effects of, and build resilience 
to, the extremely dry seasonal conditions through access to accounting, legal 
or financial advice. During 2012-13 the SBDC made 7 grants at a total cost 
of $16,118 resulting in an average grant per small business of $2,302.57. 
Assuming the average hourly rate for the services of a private sector consultant 
is $100, the grant money provides each client with approximately 23.03 hours 
of consultant’s time ($2,302.57 / 100).  From SBDC records, each SBDC 
consultant sees on average two clients per hour.  Therefore the number of 
‘direct client contacts equivalent’ is 23.03 (consultant hours) x 2 (clients per 
hour) x 7 (grants given) = 322 ‘direct clients equivalent’.

The cost per direct client contact is consistent with the 2012-13 target but lower 
than the 2011-12 result due to an overall increase in the number of client contacts.

4: Indirect client contacts are exposed to a range of advisory, information, 
referral and business services that would impact on their growth and 
business development.  These include 17,116 who have attended Award 
Functions, Expos or other Forums which SBDC has organised, has been the 
major sponsor where the focus has been on business development, or where 
an SBDC representative has given an address on small business matters.  
Indirect client contacts also include the 69,911 occasions SBDC web sites 
have been browsed for between two and four minutes. The reduction in cost 
per indirect client contact against the 2012-13 Target generally relates to 
reduced advertising and marketing costs together with an overall increase in 
the number of indirect client contacts.

5: SBC client contacts.  A total of 51,085 client assists were recorded 
compared to 50,359 in 2011-12. The cost per SBC client contact of $95.62 is 
consistent with the 2012-13 target and the 2011-12 result.

6: Policy advice includes policy submissions, investigative research, 
ministerial correspondence, industry liaison and small business sector 
advocacy. The cost of policy advice includes salaries and related staffing 
costs and all other direct costs associated with the Policy and Advocacy 
section of the SBDC, together with a notional allocation of corporate 
overhead costs. The variation between the 2012-13 actual and target is 
generally the result of lower than expected salary costs as a number of 
positions remained vacant during the reporting period. 

http://www.treasury.wa.gov.au/cms/uploadedFiles/State_Budget/Budget_2012_13/2012-13_budgetpaperno2_v2.pdf
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Certification of Financial Statement



Page 64 - Small Business Development Corporation Annual Report 2013

Statement of Comprehensive Income 
for the year ended 30 June 2013

Note 2013 2012 
 $  $ 

COST OF SERVICES
Expenses

Employee benefits expense  6  5,513,034  5,261,966 
Supplies and services  7  3,499,540  3,768,459 
Depreciation and amortisation expense  8  78,612  62,249 
Communications expense  117,628  100,941 
Maintenance expense  47,462  39,372 
Grants and subsidies  9  3,654,711  4,084,083 
Cost of sales  10  7,942  13,633 
Other expenses  12  362,501  354,594 

Total cost of services  13,281,430  13,685,297 

Income
Revenue

User charges and fees  13  218,079  314,648 
Sales  10  16,054  24,844 
Grants and contributions  14  288,000  629,000 
Interest revenue  15  110,051  126,739 
Other revenue  16  30,815  218,617 

Total Revenue  662,999  1,313,848 

Gains
Gain on disposal of non-current assets  11  28  0 
Total Gains  28  0 

Total income other than income from State Government  663,027  1,313,848 

NET COST OF SERVICES  12,618,403  12,371,449 
Income from State Government  17 

Service appropriation  11,908,000  12,751,000 
Services received free of charge  176,461  140,761 
Royalties for Regions Fund  450,000  0 

Total income from State Government  12,534,461  12,891,761 

(DEFICIT)/SURPLUS FOR THE PERIOD (83,942)  520,312 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD (83,942) 520,312

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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Statement of Financial Position 
as at 30 June 2013					   

Note 2013 2012 
 $  $ 

ASSETS
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents  18,29  2,588,557  3,180,191 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents  19,29  354,678  67,494 
Inventories  10  9,507  14,808 
Receivables  20  234,179  260,947 
Amounts receivable for services  21  60,000  60,000 
Other current assets  22  97,069  50,202 

Total Current Assets  3,343,990  3,633,642 
Non-Current Assets

Amounts receivable for services  21  319,000  290,000 
Furniture, plant and equipment  23  121,439  29,458 
Intangible assets  24  207,102  10,242 

Total Non-Current Assets  647,541  329,700 
TOTAL ASSETS  3,991,531  3,963,342 

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities

Payables  26  477,768  675,481 
Provisions  27  1,189,609  1,073,847 

Total Current Liabilities 1,667,377 1,749,328 
Non-Current Liabilities

Provisions  27  319,764  303,682 
Total Non-Current Liabilities  319,764  303,682 
TOTAL LIABILITIES  1,987,141  2,053,010 
NET ASSETS  2,004,390  1,910,332 
EQUITY  28 

Contributed equity  1,118,885  940,885 
Accumulated surplus  885,505  969,447 

TOTAL EQUITY  2,004,390  1,910,332 

The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
for the year ended 30 June 2013

 
Note 

Contributed
equity

Accumulated
surplus

Total
equity

$ $ $

Balance at 1 July 2011  940,885  449,135  1,390,020 
Total comprehensive income for the period 0  520,312  520,312 
Balance at 30 June 2012  940,885  969,447  1,910,332 

Balance at 1 July 2012  940,885  969,447  1,910,332 
Total comprehensive income for the period 0 (83,942) (83,942)
Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners:

Capital appropriations  178,000 0  178,000 
Balance at 30 June 2013  1,118,885  885,505  2,004,390 

The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Statement of Cash Flows 
for the year ended 30 June 2013					   

Note 2013 2012
$ $

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Service appropriation  11,819,000  12,656,000 
Capital appropriation  178,000  0 
Holding account drawdown  60,000  0 
Royalties for Regions Fund  450,000  0 

Net cash provided by State Government  12,507,000  12,656,000 

Utilised as follows:
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Payments

Employee benefits (5,428,596) (5,135,780)
Supplies and services (3,523,846) (3,798,073)
Communication expense (128,321) (113,753)
Maintenance expense (63,802) (36,028)
Grants and subsidies (3,611,731) (4,053,599)
GST payments on purchases (749,252) (771,286)
Other payments (370,164) (577,501)

Receipts
Sale of goods and services  16,402  24,409 
User charges and fees  218,193  314,648 
Grants and contributions  288,000  629,000 
Interest received  115,320  137,677 
GST receipts on sales  10,566  63,576 
GST receipts from taxation authority  738,367  705,436 
Other receipts  44,839  222,840 

Net cash used in operating activities 29 (12,444,025) (12,388,434)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments

Purchase of non-current physical assets (367,453) (15,555)
Receipts

Proceeds from sale of non-current physical assets  28  0 
Net cash used in investing activities (367,425) (15,555)
Net decrease/increase in cash and cash equivalents (304,450)  252,011 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period  3,247,685  2,995,674 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF PERIOD 29  2,943,235  3,247,685 

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2013
Note 1. Australian Accounting Standards
General
The Corporation’s financial statements for the 
year ended 30 June 2013 have been prepared 
in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards. The term ‘Australian Accounting 
Standards’ includes Standards and Interpretations 
issued by the Australian Accounting Standard 
Board (AASB).

The Corporation has adopted any applicable new 
and revised Australian Accounting Standards from 
their operative dates.

Early adoption of standards
The Corporation cannot early adopt an Australian 
Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted 
by TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting 
Standards and Other Pronouncements. There has 
been no early adoption of Australian Accounting 
Standards that have been issued or amended 
(but not operative) by the Corporation for the 
annual reporting period ended 30 June 2013.

Note 2. Summary of significant  
accounting policies
(a) General statement
The Corporation is a not-for-profit reporting 
entity that prepares general purpose financial 
statements in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards, the Framework, 
Statements of Accounting Concepts and other 
authoritative pronouncements of the AASB as 
applied by the Treasurer’s instructions. Several  
of these are modified by the Treasurer’s 
instructions to vary application, disclosure,  
format and wording.

The Financial Management Act and the 
Treasurer’s instructions impose legislative 
provisions that govern the preparation of 
financial statements and take precedence over 
Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, 
Statements of Accounting Concepts and other 
authoritative pronouncements of the AASB.

Where modification is required and has had a 
material or significant financial effect upon the 
reported results, details of that modification and 
the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the 
notes to the financial statements.

(b) Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared 
on the accrual basis of accounting using the 
historical cost convention and are presented in 
Australian dollars.

The accounting policies adopted in the 
preparation of the financial statements have 
been consistently applied throughout all periods 
presented unless otherwise stated.

Note 3 ‘Judgements made by management 
in applying accounting policies’ discloses 
judgements that have been made in the process 
of applying the Corporation’s accounting policies 
resulting in the most significant effect on amounts 
recognised in the financial statements.

Note 4 ‘Key sources of estimation uncertainty’ 
discloses key assumptions made concerning 
the future, and other key sources of estimation 
uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, 
that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year. 

(c) Reporting entity
The reporting entity comprises the Corporation only.

(d) Contributed equity
AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by 
Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector 
Entities requires transfers in the nature of 
equity contributions, other than as a result of a 
restructure of administrative arrangements, to be 
designated by the Government (the owner) as 
contributions by owners (at the time of, or prior to 
transfer) before such transfers can be recognised 
as equity contributions. Capital appropriations 
have been designated as contributions by owners 
by TI 955 Contributions by Owners made to 
Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities and have 
been credited directly to Contributed equity.	

The transfers of net assets to/from other 
agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of 
administrative arrangements, are designated as 
contributions by owners where the transfers are 
non-discretionary and non-reciprocal.	
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2013
(e) Income
Revenue recognition
Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair 
value of consideration received or receivable. 
Revenue is recognised for the major business 
activities as follows:

Sale of goods 
Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods 
and disposal of other assets when the significant 
risks and rewards of ownership transfer to the 
purchaser and can be measured reliably.

Provision of services 
Revenue is recognised by reference to the stage 
of completion of the transaction.

Interest
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues.

Service appropriations
Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues 
at fair value in the period in which the Corporation 
gains control of the appropriated funds. The 
Corporation gains control of appropriated funds 
at the time those funds are deposited to the bank 
account or credited to the ‘Amounts receivable for 
services’ (holding account) held at Treasury. 

Grants, donations, gifts and other  
non-reciprocal contributions
Revenue is recognised at fair value when the 
Corporation obtains control over the assets 
comprising the contributions, usually when cash 
is received.

Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not 
contributions by owners are recognised at their 
fair value. Contributions of services are only 
recognised when a fair value can be reliably 
determined and the services would be purchased 
if not donated.

Royalties for Regions funds are recognised 
as revenue at fair value in the period in which 
the Corporation obtains control over the funds. 
The Corporation obtains control of the funds 
at the time the funds are deposited into the 
Corporation’s bank account.

Gains
Realised and unrealised gains are usually 
recognised on a net basis. This includes gains 
arising on the disposal of non-current assets.

(f) Furniture, plant and equipment
Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Items of furniture, plant and equipment costing 
$5,000 or more are recognised as assets and the 
cost of utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) 
over their useful lives. Items of furniture, plant 
and equipment costing less than $5,000 are 
immediately expensed direct to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income (other than where they 
form part of a group of similar items which are 
significant in total).

Initial recognition and measurement
Furniture, plant and equipment are initially 
recognised at cost. For items of furniture,  
plant and equipment acquired at no cost or for 
nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the 
date of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement
Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the 
historical cost model is used for the measurement 
of all items of furniture, plant and equipment 
where they are stated at historical cost less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses.

Depreciation 
All non-current assets having a limited useful 
life are systematically depreciated over their 
estimated useful lives in a manner that reflects 
the consumption of their future economic benefits.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight line 
method, using rates which are reviewed annually. 
Estimated useful life for Computing Equipment is 
3 to 4 years.

(g) Intangible assets
Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 
or more are capitalised. The cost of utilising 
the assets is expensed (amortised) over their 
useful lives. Cost incurred below the threshold is 
immediately expensed directly to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 

Intangible assets are initially recognised at  
cost. For assets acquired at no cost or for  
nominal cost, the cost is their fair value at the 
date of acquisition.
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2013
The cost model is applied for subsequent 
measurement requiring the asset to be carried 
at cost less any accumulated amortisation and 
accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful 
lives is calculated for the period of the expected 
benefit (estimated useful life which is reviewed 
annually) on the straight line basis. All intangible 
assets controlled by the Corporation have a finite 
useful life and zero residual value. 

The expected useful lives for each class of 
intangible asset are:

Software - 3 to 4 years

Development costs - 3 to 4 years

Computer Software
Software that is not an integral part of the related 
hardware is recognised as an intangible asset. 
Software costing less than $5,000 is expensed in 
the year of acquisition.

Development Costs
Development costs incurred for an individual 
project are carried forward when the future 
economic benefits can reasonably be regarded 
as assured and the total project costs are likely 
to exceed $10,000. Other development costs are 
expensed as incurred.

(h) Impairment of assets
Furniture, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets are tested for any indication of impairment 
at the end of each reporting period. Where there 
is an indication of impairment, the recoverable 
amount is estimated. Where the recoverable 
amount is less than the carrying amount, the 
asset is considered impaired and is written down 
to the recoverable amount and an impairment 
loss is recognised. As the Corporation is a not-for-
profit entity, unless an asset has been identified 
as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the 
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell 
and depreciated replacement cost.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to 
circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is 
materially understated, where the replacement 
cost is falling or where there is a significant 
change in useful life. Each relevant class of assets 
is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated 

depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of 
consumption or expiration of the asset’s future 
economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment 
risk from falling replacement costs.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and 
intangible assets not yet available for use are 
tested for impairment at the end of each reporting 
period irrespective of whether there is any 
indication of impairment.

The recoverable amount of assets identified as 
surplus assets is the higher of fair value less 
costs to sell and the present value of future 
cash flows expected to be derived from the 
asset. Surplus assets carried at fair value have 
no risk of material impairment where fair value 
is determined by reference to market-based 
evidence. Where fair value is determined by 
reference to depreciated replacement cost, 
surplus assets are at risk of impairment and the 
recoverable amount is measured. Surplus assets 
at cost are tested for indications of impairment at 
the end of each reporting period.

(i) Leases
The Corporation holds operating lease 
arrangements for the rent of the motor vehicles. 
Lease payments are expensed on a straight line 
basis over the lease term as this represents the 
pattern of benefits derived from the leased vehicles. 
No finance lease is held by the Corporation.

(j) Financial instruments
In addition to cash, the Corporation has two 
categories of financial instrument:

-	 Receivables; and

-	 Financial liabilities measured at  
amortised cost.

Financial instruments have been disaggregated 
into the following classes:

Financial Assets
-	 Cash and cash equivalents

-	 Restricted cash and cash equivalents

-	 Receivables

-	 Amounts receivable for services

Financial Liabilities
-	 Payables
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2013
Initial recognition and measurement of financial 
instruments is at fair value which normally 
equates to the transaction cost or the face value. 
Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method.

The fair value of short-term receivables and 
payables is the transaction cost or the face value 
because there is no interest rate applicable and 
subsequent measurement is not required as the 
effect of discounting is not material.

(k) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, 
cash and cash equivalent (and restricted cash and 
cash equivalent) assets comprise cash on hand 
and short-term deposits with original maturities of 
three months or less that are readily convertible to 
a known amount of cash and which are subject to 
insignificant risk of changes in value.

(l) Accrued salaries
Accrued salaries (see note 26 ‘Payables’) represent 
the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the 
financial year. Accrued salaries are settled within a 
fortnight of the financial year end. The Corporation 
considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries 
to be equivalent to its net fair value.

(m) Amounts receivable for services  
(holding account)
The Corporation receives income from the 
State Government partly in cash and partly 
as an asset (holding account receivable). The 
accrued amount appropriated is accessible on the 
emergence of the cash funding requirement to 
cover leave entitlements and asset replacement.

(n) Inventories
Publication stocks are valued at the lower of cost 
and net realisable value. Costs are assigned on 
an average cost basis.

(o) Receivables
Receivables are recognised at original invoice 
amount less an allowance for any uncollectible 
amounts (i.e. impairment). The collectability of 
receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and 
any receivables identified as uncollectable are 
written-off against the allowance account. The 
allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful 
debts) is raised when there is objective evidence 
that the Corporation will not be able to collect the 

debts. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair 
value as it is due for settlement within 30 days. 

(p) Payables
Payables are recognised when the Corporation 
becomes obliged to make future payments as a 
result of a purchase of assets or services. The 
carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as 
settlement is generally within 30 days.

(q) Provisions
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or 
amount and are recognised where there is a 
present legal or constructive obligation as a result 
of a past event and when the outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits is probable and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of 
the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at the end 
of each reporting period.

Provisions – employee benefits
All annual leave and long service leave provisions 
are in respect of employees’ services up to the 
end of the reporting period.

Annual leave
The liability for annual leave expected to be 
settled within 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period is recognised and measured at 
the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid 
when the liability is settled.

Annual leave that is not expected to be settled 
within 12 months after the end of the reporting 
period is recognised and measured at the present 
value of amounts expected to be paid when the 
liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate 
expected to apply at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments 
consideration is given to expected future 
wage and salary levels including non-salary 
components such as employer superannuation 
contributions, as well as the experience of 
employee departures and periods of service. The 
expected future payments are discounted using 
market yields at the end of the reporting period on 
national government bonds with terms to maturity 
that match, as closely as possible, the estimated 
future cash outflows.

The provision for annual leave is classified as a 
current liability as the Corporation does not have 
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an unconditional right to defer settlement of the 
liability for at least 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period.

Long service leave
An actuarial assessment of long service leave had 
been undertaken by PricewaterhouseCoopers 
Securities Limited at 30 June 2013 using the 
present value of expected future payments.

When assessing expected future payments 
consideration is given to expected future 
wage and salary levels including non-salary 
components such as employer superannuation 
contributions, payroll tax and workers’ 
compensation insurance, as well as the 
experience of employee departures and periods 
of service. The expected future payments are 
discounted using market yields at the end of the 
reporting period on national government bonds 
with terms to maturity that match, as closely as 
possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Unconditional long service leave provisions are 
classified as current liabilities as the Corporation 
does not have an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months 
after the end of the reporting period. Pre-
conditional and conditional long service leave 
provisions are classified as non-current liabilities 
because the Corporation has an unconditional 
right to defer the settlement of the liability until 
the employee has completed the requisite years 
of service.

Sick leave
Liabilities for sick leave are recognised when it  
is probable that sick leave paid in the future will 
be greater than the entitlement that will accrue in 
the future.

Past history indicates that on average, sick leave 
taken each reporting period is less than the 
entitlement accrued. This is expected to continue 
in future periods. Accordingly, it is unlikely that 
existing accumulated entitlements will be used 
by employees and no liability for unused sick 
leave entitlements is recognised. As sick leave 
is non-vesting, an expense is recognised in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income for this 
leave as it is taken.

Deferred leave
The provision for deferred leave relates to Public 
Service employees who have entered into an 
agreement to self-fund an additional 12 months 
leave in the fifth year of the agreement. The 
provision recognises the value of salary set aside 
for employees to be used in the fifth year. This 
liability is measured on the same basis as annual 
leave. Deferred leave is reported as a current 
provision as employees can leave the scheme at 
their discretion at any time. 

Purchased leave
The provision for purchased leave relates to 
Public Service employees who have entered into 
an agreement to self-fund up to an additional 10 
weeks leave per calendar year. The provision 
recognises the value of salary set aside for 
employees and is measured at the undiscounted 
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities 
are settled.

Superannuation
The Government Employees Superannuation 
Board (GESB) and other fund providers 
administer public sector superannuation 
arrangements in Western Australia in accordance 
with legislative requirements. Eligibility criteria 
for membership in particular schemes for 
public sector employees vary according to 
commencement and implementation dates.	

Eligible employees contribute to the Pension 
Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme 
closed to new members since 1987, or the 
Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a 
defined benefit lump sum scheme closed to new 
members since 1995.

Employees commencing employment prior to 
16 April 2007 who were not members of either 
the Pension Scheme or the GSS became 
non-contributory members of the West State 
Superannuation Scheme (WSS). Employees 
commencing employment on or after 16 April 
2007 became members of the GESB Super 
Scheme (GESBS). From 30 March 2012, 
existing members of the WSS or GESBS and 
new employees have been able to choose their 
preferred superannuation fund provider. The 
Corporation makes concurrent contributions 



Small Business Development Corporation Annual Report 2013 

73

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2013
to GESB or other fund providers on behalf of 
employees in compliance with the Commonwealth 
Government’s Superannuation Guarantee 
(Administration) Act 1992. Contributions to 
these accumulation schemes extinguish the 
Corporation’s liability for superannuation charges 
in respect of employees who are not members of 
the Pension Scheme or GSS.

The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the 
purposes of employees and whole-of-government 
reporting. However, it is a defined contribution 
plan for agency purposes because the concurrent 
contributions (defined contributions) made by the 
Corporation to GESB extinguishes the agency’s 
obligations to the related superannuation liability.

The Corporation has no liabilities under the 
Pension Scheme or the GSS. The liabilities for 
the unfunded Pension Scheme and the unfunded 
GSS transfer benefits attributable to members 
who transferred from the Pension Scheme, 
are assumed by the Treasurer. All other GSS 
obligations are funded by concurrent contributions 
made by the Corporation to the GESB. 

The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect 
of the Pension Scheme and GSS, and is recouped 
from the Treasurer for the employer’s share.

Provisions – other
Employment on-costs
Employment on-costs, including payroll tax 
and workers’ compensation insurance, are not 
employee benefits and are recognised separately 
as liabilities and expenses when the employment 
to which they relate has occurred. Employment 
on-costs are included as part of ‘Other expenses’ 
and are not included as part of the Corporation’s 
‘Employee benefits expense’. The related liability 
is included in ‘Employment on-costs provision’.

(r) Superannuation expense
The superannuation expense in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income comprises employer 
contributions paid to the GSS (concurrent 
contributions), WSS, the GESBS and other 
superannuation funds.

(s) Services received free of charge  
or for nominal cost
Services received free of charge or for nominal 
cost are recognised as income at the fair value 

of those services that can be reliably measured 
and the Corporation would otherwise pay for. 
A corresponding expense is recognised for 
services received. 

Services received from other State Government 
agencies are separately disclosed under Income 
from State Government in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income.

(t) Comparative Figures
Comparative figures are, where appropriate, 
reclassified to be comparable with the figures 
presented in the current financial year.

Note 3. Judgements made by management in 
applying accounting policies

The preparation of financial statements requires 
management to make judgements about the 
application of accounting policies that have a 
significant effect on the amounts recognised 
in the financial statements. The Corporation 
evaluates these judgements regularly.

Operating lease commitment
The Corporation has entered into a number 
of operating lease arrangements and has 
determined that the lessors retain the significant 
risks and rewards of ownership of the items. 
Accordingly, these leases have been classified as 
operating leases.

Note 4. Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Key estimates and assumptions concerning the 
future are based on historical experience and 
various other factors that have a significant risk 
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amount of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year.

Long service leave
Several estimations and assumptions used  
in calculating the Corporation’s long service 
leave provision include expected future salary 
rates, discount rates, employee retention rates 
and expected future payments. Changes in  
these estimations and assumptions may  
impact on the carrying amount of the long  
service leave provision.
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Note 5. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard
The Corporation has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective for annual 
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012 that impacted on the Corporation. 

AASB 2011-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Presentation of Items of Other 
Comprehensive Income [AASB 1, 5, 7, 101, 112, 120, 121, 132, 133, 134, 1039 & 1049]

This Standard requires to group items presented in other comprehensive income on 
the basis of whether they are potentially reclassifiable to profit or loss subsequently 
(reclassification adjustments). There is no financial impact.

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative
The Corporation cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by 
TI 1101 Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements. Consequently, the 
Corporation has not applied early any following Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued 
that may impact the Corporation. Where applicable, the Corporation plans to apply these Australian 
Accounting Standards from their application date. 

Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/after

AASB 9 Financial Instruments 1 Jan 2015
This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement, introducing a number of changes 
to accounting treatments.

AASB 2012-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
-Mandatory Effective Date of AASB 9 and Transition Disclosures 
amended the mandatory application date of this Standard to 
1 January 2015. The Corporation has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard. 

AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements 1 Jan 2014
This Standard supersedes AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements and Int 112 Consolidation - Special Purpose 
Entities, introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.

Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred by one 
year for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10 Amendments 
to Australian Accounting Standards – Transition Guidance and 
Other Amendments. The Corporation has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the Standard.
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Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/after
AASB 11 Joint Arrangements 1 Jan 2014

This Standard supersedes AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures, 
introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.

Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred by one  
year for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10. The Corporation 
has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of 
the Standard.

AASB 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 1 Jan 2014
This Standard supersedes disclosure requirements under AASB 
127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and AASB 
131 Interests in Joint Ventures.

Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred by one  
year for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10. The Corporation 
has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of 
the Standard.

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement 1 Jan 2013
This Standard defines fair value, sets out a framework for 
measuring fair value and requires additional disclosures about fair 
value measurements. There is no financial impact.

AASB 119 Employee Benefits 1 Jan 2013
This Standard supersedes AASB 119 (October 2010), making 
changes to the recognition, presentation and disclosure requirements.

The Corporation does not have any defined benefit plans, and 
therefore the financial impact will be limited to the effect of 
discounting annual leave and long service leave liabilities that 
were previously measured at the undiscounted amounts.

AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements 1 Jan 2014
This Standard supersedes AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate 
Financial Statements, introducing a number of changes to 
accounting treatments.

Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred by one  
year for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10. The Corporation 
has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of 
the Standard.
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Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/after
AASB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 1 Jan 2014

This Standard supersedes AASB 128 Investments in Associates, 
introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.

Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred by one  
year for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10. The Corporation 
has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of 
the Standard.

AASB 1053 Application of Tiers of Australian Accounting Standards 1 July 2013
This Standard establishes a differential financial reporting 
framework consisting of two tiers of reporting requirements for 
preparing general purpose financial statements. There is no 
financial impact.

AASB 1055 Budgetary Reporting 1 July 2014
This Standard specifies the nature of budgetary disclosures, the 
circumstances in which they are to be included in the general 
purpose financial statements of not-for-profit entities within the 
GGS. The Corporation will be required to disclose additional 
budgetary information and explanations of major variances between 
actual and budgeted amounts, though there is no financial impact.

AASB 2010-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
Reduced Disclosure Requirements [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 8, 101, 
102, 107, 108, 110, 111, 112, 116, 117, 119, 121, 123, 124, 127, 
128, 131, 133, 134, 136, 137, 138, 140, 141, 1050 & 1052 and Int 
2, 4, 5, 15, 17, 127, 129 & 1052]

1 July 2013

This Standard makes amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations to introduce reduced disclosure 
requirements for certain types of entities. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
AASB 9 (December 2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 
112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139, 1023  
& 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127]

1 Jan 2015

This Standard makes consequential amendments to other 
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a result of 
issuing AASB 9 in December 2010. 

AASB 2012-6 amended the mandatory application date of 
this Standard to 1 January 2015. The Corporation has not yet 
determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard.
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Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/after
AASB 2011-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 

the Trans-Tasman Convergence Project - Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements [AASB 101 & 1054]

1 Jul 2013

This Standard removes disclosure requirements from other 
Standards and incorporates them in a single Standard to 
achieve convergence between Australian and New Zealand 
Accounting Standards for reduced disclosure reporting. There 
is no financial impact. 

AASB 2011-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Extending Relief 
from Consolidation, the Equity Method and Proportionate Consolidation - 
Reduced Disclosure Requirements [AASB 127, 128 & 131]

1 July 2013

This Standard extends the relief from consolidation, the equity 
method and proportionate consolidation by removing the 
requirement for the consolidated financial statements prepared 
by the ultimate or any immediate parent entity to be IFRS 
compliant, provided that the parent entity, investor or venturer and 
the ultimate or intermediate parent entity comply with Australian 
Accounting Standards or Australian Accounting Standards - 
Reduced Disclosure Requirements. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2011-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the 
Consolidation and Joint Arrangements Standards [AASB 1, 2, 3, 
5, 7, 101, 107, 112, 118, 121, 124, 132, 133, 136, 138, 139, 1023 
& 1038 and Int 5, 9, 16 & 17]

1 Jan 2013

This Standard gives effect to consequential changes arising 
from the issuance of AASB 10, AASB 11, AASB 127 Separate 
Financial Statements and AASB 128 Investments in Associates 
and Joint Ventures. For not-for-profit entities it applies to 
annual reporting period beginning on or after 1 January 2014. 
The Corporation has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 2011-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
AASB 13 [AASB 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 110, 116, 117, 118, 
119, 120, 121, 128, 131, 132, 133, 134, 136, 138, 139, 140, 141, 
1004, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 4, 12, 13, 14, 17, 19, 131 & 132]

1 Jan 2013

This Standard replaces the existing definition and fair value 
guidance in other Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations as the result of issuing AASB 13 in September 
2011. There is no financial impact.
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Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/after
AASB 2011-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 

AASB 119 (September 2011) [AASB 1, 8, 101, 124, 134, 1049 & 
2011-8 and Int 14]

1 Jan 2013

This Standard makes amendments to other Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 119 in 
September 2011. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2011-11 Amendments to AASB 119 (September 2011) arising from 
Reduced Disclosure Requirements

1 Jul 2013

This Standard gives effect to Australian Accounting Standards 
- Reduced Disclosure Requirements for AASB 119 (September 
2011). There is no financial impact.

AASB 2012-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Fair Value 
Measurement - Reduced Disclosure Requirements [AASB 3, 7, 
13, 140 & 141]

1 July 2013

This Standard establishes and amends reduced disclosure 
requirements for additional and amended disclosures arising 
from AASB 13 and the consequential amendments implemented 
through AASB 2011-8. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2012-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Disclosures - 
Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities [AASB 7 &132]

1 Jan 2013

This Standard amends the required disclosures in AASB 7 to 
include information that will enable users of an entity’s financial 
statements to evaluate the effect or potential effect of netting 
arrangements, including rights of set-off associated with the entity’s 
recognised financial assets and recognised financial liabilities, on 
the entity’s financial position. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2012-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Offsetting 
Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities [AASB 132]

1 Jan 2014

This Standard adds application guidance to AASB 132 to address 
inconsistencies identified in applying some of the offsetting 
criteria, including clarifying the meaning of “currently has a legally 
enforceable right of set-off” and that some gross settlement 
systems may be considered equivalent to net settlement. There is 
no financial impact. 
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Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/after
AASB 2012-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 

Annual Improvements 2009-11 Cycle [AASB 1, 101, 116, 132 & 
134 and Int 2]

1 Jan 2013

This Standard makes amendments to the Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations as a consequence of the annual 
improvements process. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2012-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Mandatory 
Effective Date of AASB 9 and Transition Disclosures [AASB 9, 
2009-11, 2010-7, 2011-7 & 2011-8]

1 Jan 2013

This Standard amends the mandatory effective date of AASB 9 
Financial Instruments to 1 January 2015. Further amendments 
are also made to consequential amendments arising from AASB 
9 that will now apply from 1 January 2015 and to consequential 
amendments arising out of the Standards that will still apply from 
1 January 2013. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2012-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from 
Reduced Disclosure Requirements [AASB 7, 12, 101 & 127]

1 Jul 2013

This Standard adds to or amends the Australian Accounting 
Standards to provide further information regarding the differential 
reporting framework and the two tiers of reporting requirements for 
preparing general financial statement. There is no financial impact.

AASB 2012-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Transition 
Guidance and Other Amendments [AASB 1, 5, 7, 8, 10, 11, 12, 
13, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 119, 127, 128, 132, 133, 134, 137, 
1023, 1038, 1039, 1049, & 2011-7 and Int 12]

1 Jan 2013

This Standard makes amendments to AASB 10 and related 
Standards to revise the transition guidance relevant to the initial 
application of those Standards, and to clarify the circumstances 
in which adjustments to an entity’s previous accounting for its 
involvement with other entities are required and the timing of 
such adjustments.

The Standard was issued in December 2012. The Corporation 
has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of 
the Standard.



Page 80 - Small Business Development Corporation Annual Report 2013

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2013

Operative for 
reporting periods 

beginning on/after
AASB 2012-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Reduced 

Disclosure Requirements and Other Amendments [AASB 1, 2, 8, 
10, 107, 128, 133, 134 & 2011-4]

1 Jul 2013

This Standard makes various editorial corrections to Australian 
Accounting Standards - Reduced Disclosure Requirements (Tier 
2). These corrections ensure that the Standards reflect decisions 
of the AASB regarding the Tier 2 requirements.

This Standard also extends the relief from consolidation and the 
equity method (in the new Consolidation and Joint Arrangements 
Standards) to entities complying with Australian Accounting Standards 
- Reduced Disclosure Requirements. There is no financial impact.

2013 2012 
 $  $ 

Note 6. Employee benefits expense
Wages and salaries (a)  5,005,283  4,836,542 
Superannuation - defined contribution plans (b)  507,751  425,424 

 5,513,034  5,261,966 
(a) Includes fringe benefits tax, leave entitlements including superannuation contribution 
component.
(b) Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State, GESBS and other eligible 
funds.

Employment on-costs expenses such as payroll tax, workers’ compensation insurance and 
other employee related expenses are included at note 12 ‘Other expenses’. Employment on-
costs liability is included at note 27 ‘Provisions’. 

Note 7. Supplies and services 
Premises - accommodation expenses  1,015,094  995,846 
Media, advertising and promotions  218,054  286,582 
Travel and accommodation  88,366  180,420 
Professional services  1,213,370  1,536,819 
Small Business Initiative Fund payments  0  13,751 
Aboriginal Business Initiative Fund payments  0  47,898 
Sponsorships  165,484  155,586 
Other services  472,162  410,533 
Consumable supplies  96,564  141,024 
Royalties for Regions Fund payments  230,446  0 

 3,499,540  3,768,459 
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2013 2012 
 $  $ 

Note 8. Depreciation and amortisation expense
Depreciation
Computing equipment  12,297  24,303 
Total depreciation  12,297  24,303 

Amortisation
Intangible assets - software  65,049  32,842 
Development costs  1,266  5,104 
Total amortisation  66,315  37,946 
Total depreciation and amortisation  78,612  62,249 

Note 9. Grants and subsidies
Small Business Centres - Operational grants  3,644,211  3,676,094 
Small Business Centres - Capital grants  0  11,913 
Capacity Building Program  0  10,682 
Dry Seasons Assistance Program  0  27,691 
Margaret River Fire Relief grant  0  50,000 
Drought Relief Program  10,500  307,703 

 3,654,711  4,084,083 

Note 10. Trading profit
Sales  16,054  24,844 
Cost of sales:

Opening inventory (14,808) (18,131)
Purchases (2,641) (10,310)

(17,449) (28,441)
Closing inventory  9,507  14,808 

Cost of Goods Sold (7,942) (13,633)
Trading profit  8,112  11,211 

Note 11. Net (loss) on disposal of non-current assets
Proceeds from disposal of non-current assets
Computing equipment  28  0 

Costs of disposal of non-current assets
Computing equipment  0  0 
Net gain  28  0 
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 $  $ 

Note 12. Other expenses
Employment on-costs (a)  267,235  254,265 
Other employee related expenses (b)  52,591  65,299 
Audit fees (c)  35,540  35,030 
Write off - obselete inventory  6,841  0 
Write off - bad debt  294  0 

 362,501  354,594 

(a) Includes payroll tax and workers’ compensation insurance. The on-costs liability 
associated with the recognition of annual, purchased and long service leave liability is 
included at note 27 ‘Provisions’. Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the 
provision for leave are employee benefits and are not included in employment on-costs.
(b) Includes staff recruitment, staff training and staff amenities.
(c) See also note 30 ‘Remuneration of auditors’. 

Note 13. User charges and fees
Workshop income  25,527  1,709 
Skills and Business Migration visa application 
fees

 139,500  210,209 

Fees for mediation services  8,182 0
Fees for service agreements provided to the 
Commonwealth Government:
Department of Transport & Regional Services
- �Indian Ocean Territories Service Delivery Arrangement  44,870  102,730 

 218,079  314,648 

Note 14. Grants and contributions
Commonwealth grant (a)  288,000  279,000 
Department of Agriculture and Food - Drought Relief Program  0  350,000 

 288,000  629,000 

(a) The Corporation will receive Commonwealth funding totalling $822,000 over three years 
for the implementation of the Business Online Services (BOS) system. The BOS is part 
of the Council of Australian Governments reform agenda under the National Partnership 
Agreement to deliver a Seamless National Economy.

Note 15. Interest Revenue
Bank interest income  110,051  126,739 

 110,051  126,739 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2013
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2013 2012 
 $  $ 

Note 16. Other revenue
Sponsorships  909  0 
Funding from Tourism WA  0  150,000 
Miscellaneous  29,906  68,617 

 30,815  218,617 

Note 17. Income from State Government
Appropriation received during the period:
Service appropriation (a)  11,908,000  12,751,000 

Services received free of charge from other 
State Government agencies during the period:
Department of the Attorney General  8,949  9,290 
Department of Finance  167,512  131,471 
  176,461  140,761 

Royalties for Regions Fund:
Regional Community Services Account (b)  450,000  0 

 12,534,461  12,891,761 

(a) Service appropriations fund the net cost of services delivered. Appropriation revenue 
comprises a cash component and a receivable (asset). The receivable (holding account) 
comprises the budgeted depreciation expense for the year and any agreed increase in leave 
liability during the year.

(b) This is a sub-fund within the over-arching ‘Royalties for Regions Fund’. The recurrent 
funds are committed to projects and programs in WA regional areas.

Note 18. Cash and cash equivalents
Bank account  2,088,007  2,679,641 
Cash investments - investment with Department of Treasury  500,000  500,000 
Cash on hand  550  550 

 2,588,557  3,180,191 

Note 19. Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Funding from Department of Agriculture and 
Food for the Drought Relief program

 36,158  67,494 

Royalties for Regions Fund (a)  318,520  0 
 354,678  67,494 

(a) Unspent funds are committed to projects and programs in WA regional areas.

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2013
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2013 2012 
 $  $ 

Note 20. Receivables
Trade debtors  57,463  90,678 
Net GST recoverable  155,461  143,744 
Accrued interest  21,255  26,525 

 234,179  260,947 

The Corporation does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements as  
security for receivables.

Note 21. Amounts receivable for services (Holding Account)
Current  60,000  60,000 
Non-current  319,000  290,000 

 379,000  350,000 

Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations. It is restricted in that it can 
only be used for asset replacement or payment of leave liability. 

Note 22. Other current assets
Prepayments  97,069  50,202 

97,069  50,202 

Note 23. Furniture, plant and equipment
Computing equipment at cost  295,457  204,953 
Accumulated depreciation  (174,018) (175,495)

 121,439  29,458 

Reconciliations:

Computing Equipment
Carrying amount at start of period  29,458  38,206 
Additions  104,278  15,555 
Depreciation (12,297) (24,303)
Carrying amount at end of period  121,439  29,458 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2013



Small Business Development Corporation Annual Report 2013 

85

2013 2012 
 $  $ 

Note 24. Intangible assets
Computer software at cost  444,737  181,563 
Accumulated amortisation (237,635) (172,587)

 207,102  8,976 

Development costs at cost  49,367  49,367 
Accumulated amortisation (49,367) (48,101)

 0  1,266 

 207,102  10,242 

Reconciliations:

Computer software
Carrying amount at start of period  8,976  41,818 
Additions  263,175  0 
Amortisation expense (65,049) (32,842)
Carrying amount at end of period  207,102  8,976 

Development costs
Carrying amount at start of period  1,266  6,370 
Additions  0  0 
Amortisation expense (1,266) (5,104)
Carrying amount at end of period  0  1,266 

Note 25. Impairment of assets
There were no indications of impairment to furniture, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets at 30 June 2013.

The Corporation held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the 
reporting period. At the end of the reporting period there were no intangible assets not yet 
available for use.

All surplus assets at 30 June 2013 have been written-off.

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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2013 2012 
 $  $ 

Note 26. Payables
Trade payables 13,274 231,229 
Accrued expenses  348,246  340,720 
Accrued salaries  116,248  103,532 

 477,768  675,481 
Note 27. Provisions

Current 
Employee benefits provision
Annual leave (a)  385,886  356,618 
Purchased leave  4,631  9,965 
Long service leave (b)  713,622  638,715 
Deferred salary scheme (c)  27,856  16,380 

 1,131,995  1,021,678 
Other provisions
Employment on-costs (d)  57,614  52,169 

 57,614  52,169 
 1,189,609  1,073,847 

Non-current 
Employee benefits provision
Long service leave (b)  303,848  288,545 

 303,848  288,545 
Other provisions
Employment on-costs (d)  15,916  15,137 

 15,916  15,137 
 319,764  303,682 

(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right 
to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period. Assessments 
indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows: 

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period  321,168  306,407 
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period  64,718  50,211 

 385,886  356,618 

(b) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no 
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting period. 
Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows: 

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period  237,874  212,905 
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period  779,596  714,355 

 1,017,470  927,260 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2013
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2013 2012 
 $  $ 

(c) Deferred salary scheme liabilities have been classified as current where there is no 
unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months after the reporting period. 
Actual settlement of the liabilities is expected to occur as follows: 

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period  0  0 
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period  27,856  16,380 

 27,856  16,380 

(d) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment 
of employment on-costs including payroll tax and workers’ compensation insurance. The 
provision is the present value of expected future payments. The associated expense, apart 
from the unwinding of the discount (finance cost), is disclosed in note 12 ‘Other expenses’. 

Movements in other provisions
Movements in other provision during the period, other than employee benefits, is set out 
below:

Employment on-cost provision
Carrying amount at start of period  67,306  55,393 
Additional provisions recognised
Payments

 6,224  11,913 
 0  0 

Carrying amount at end of period  73,530  67,306 

Note 28. Equity
The Government holds the equity interest in the Corporation on behalf of the community. 
Equity represents the residual interest in the net assets of the Corporation. 

Contributed equity
Balance at start of period  940,885  940,885 

Contributions by owners
Capital appropriation  178,000  0 
Total contributions by owners  178,000  0 

Balance at end of period  1,118,885  940,885 

Accumulated surplus
Balance at start of period  969,447  449,135 
Result for the period (83,942)  520,312 
Balance at end of period  885,505  969,447 

Total equity at end of period  2,004,390  1,910,332 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
for the year ended 30 June 2013
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2013 2012 
 $  $ 

Note 29. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows
Reconciliation of cash
Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Statement of Cash Flows is reconciled 
to the related items in the Statement of Financial Position as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents (note 18 ‘Cash and 
cash equivalents’)

 2,588,557  3,180,191 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents (note 19 
‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’)

 354,678  67,494 

 2,943,235  3,247,685 

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net 
cash flows used in operating activities
Net cost of services (12,618,403) (12,371,449)

Non-cash items:
Depreciation and amortisation expense (note  
8 ‘Depreciation and amortisation expense’)

 78,612  62,249 

Services received free of charge  
(note 17 ‘Income from State Government’)

 176,461  140,761 

Net (gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 
(note 11 ‘Net gain on disposal of non-current assets’)

(28)  0 

Changes in assets and liabilities:
Decrease/(Increase) in receivables  26,768 (47,668)
(Increase)/Decrease in other current assets (46,867)  59,430 
Decrease in inventories  5,301  3,323 
(Decrease) in payables (197,713) (146,816)
Increase/(Decrease) in provisions  131,844 (88,264)
Net cash used in operating activities (12,444,025) (12,388,434)

Note 30. Remuneration of auditors
Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in 
respect of the audit for the current financial year is as follows:
- Auditing the accounts, financial statements 
and key performance indicators 

26,000 25,000 

Remuneration paid or payable to Deloitte is as follows:
- Compliance audit 10,540 11,530 

36,540 36,530 

The amounts disclosed above differ from the amounts recognised in note 12 ‘Other 
expenses’ and represents the totals of interim and final audit fees for the current year 
financial statement.

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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Note 31. Remuneration of members of the accountable 
authority and senior officers
Remuneration of members of the accountable authority
The number of members of the accountable authority, whose total of fees, salaries, 
superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the financial year, fall within 
the following bands are:

  2013 2012
 $ 0 - $10,000 6 5

 $10,001 - $20,000 0 1
 $20,001 - $30,000 1 0
 $30,001 - $40,000 0 1

The total remuneration of members of the 
accountable authority  71,824  69,115 

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Corporation in 
respect of members of the accountable authority. 

Remuneration of senior officers
The number of senior officers, other than senior officers reported as members of the 
accountable authority, whose total fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits 
and other benefits for the financial year, fall within the following bands are:

  2013 2012
 $20,001 - $30,000 1 0
 $80,001 - $90,000 0 1
 $90,001 - $100,000 1 0

 $110,001 - $120,000 0 2
 $120,001 - $130,000 1 1
 $130,001 - $140,000 0 1
 $150,001 - $160,000 0 1
 $160,001 - $170,000 1 1
 $170,001 - $180,000 1 0
 $180,001 - $190,000 0 1
 $270,001 - $280,000 1 0

The total remuneration of senior officers  858,847  1,093,846 

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Corporation 
in respect of senior officers other than senior officers reported as members of the 
accountable authority. 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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Note 32. Affiliated Bodies
Small Business Centres
During the year $3,644,211 was paid out to Small Business Centres by way of operational 
grants. The Centres are separately incorporated entities located in city and country areas to 
assist small businesses to expand or develop new business ideas. 

Note 33. Indian Ocean Territories Service Delivery Arrangement
The Corporation has an agreement with the Commonwealth of Australia to provide business 
information, enterprise development, assistance and training to new and existing small to 
medium enterprises located on Christmas and Cocos (Keeling) Islands. 

Balance at start of the year  7,130  145 
Receipts  44,870  102,730 
Payments (52,104) (95,745)
Balance at end of period (104)  7,130 

Note 34. Commitments

The commitments below are exclusive of GST.

Non-cancellable operating lease 
commitments
Commitments for minimum lease payments for motor 
vehicles and office accommodation are payable as follows: 
Within 1 year  677,967 665,983 
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years  2,638,477 2,584,128
Later than 5 years  4,530,712  5,045,721 

 7,847,156  8,295,832 

Capital expenditure commitments
Capital expenditure commitments, being 
provision of a Client Relationship Management 
System additional to the amounts reported in 
the financial statements, are payable as follows:
Within 1 year  0  118,800 

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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Other expenditure commitments
Other expenditure commitments, being provision of 
venue and meals for the 2013 Western Australian 
Regional Small Business Awards and provision of 
market research services contracted for at the end of 
the reporting period but not recognised as liabilities are 
payable as follows: 

Within 1 year  157,007  60,522 

Note 35. Contingent liabilities and contingent assets
No contingent liabilities and contingent assets exist as at 30 June 2013.

Note 36.  Financial Instruments 
(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies
Financial instruments held by the Corporation are cash and cash equivalents, restricted 
cash and cash equivalents, receivables and payables. The Corporation has limited exposure 
to financial risks. The Corporation’s overall risk management program focuses on managing 
the risks identified below. 

Credit risk
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Corporation’s receivables defaulting on 
their contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Corporation.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in relation to each 
class of recognised financial assets is the gross carrying amount of those assets as shown in 
the table at note 36(c) ‘Financial instruments disclosures’ and note 20 ‘Receivables’.

Credit risk associated with the Corporation’s financial assets is minimal because the main 
receivable is the amounts receivable for services (holding account). For receivables other 
than government, the Corporation trades only with recognised, creditworthy third parties. The 
Corporation has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and services are made to 
customers with an appropriate credit history. In addition, receivable balances are monitored on 
an ongoing basis with the result that the Corporation’s exposure to bad debts is minimal. At the 
end of the reporting period there were no significant concentrations of credit risk.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk arises when the Corporation is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. 
The Corporation is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business.

The Corporation has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows including drawdown of 
appropriations by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available 
to meet its commitments.

Notes to the Financial Statements 
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Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and 
interest rates will affect the Corporation’s income or the value of its holdings of financial 
instruments. The Corporation does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially 
exposed to other price risks. The Corporation has no borrowings and its exposure to 
market risk for changes in interest rates relate primarily to cash and cash equivalents which 
are interest bearing as detailed in the interest rate sensitivity analysis table at note 36(c) 
‘Financial instrument disclosures’.

(b) Categories of financial instruments
The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial 
liabilities at the end of the reporting period are: 

2013 2012
Financial Assets $ $
Cash and cash equivalents  2,588,557  3,180,191 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents  354,678  67,494 
Receivables (i)  457,718  467,203 

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost  477,768  675,481 

(i) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

(c) Financial instrument disclosures

Credit risk
The following table discloses the Corporation’s maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing 
analysis of financial assets. The Corporation’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the 
reporting period is the carrying amount of financial assets as shown below. The table discloses 
the ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired and impaired financial assets. 
The table is based on information provided to senior management of the Corporation. 

The Corporation does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancement 
relating to the financial assets it holds.
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Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as foreign exchange rates and 
interest rates will affect the Corporation’s income or the value of its holdings of financial 
instruments. The Corporation does not trade in foreign currency and is not materially 
exposed to other price risks. The Corporation has no borrowings and its exposure to 
market risk for changes in interest rates relate primarily to cash and cash equivalents which 
are interest bearing as detailed in the interest rate sensitivity analysis table at note 36(c) 
‘Financial instrument disclosures’.

(b) Categories of financial instruments
The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and financial 
liabilities at the end of the reporting period are: 

2013 2012
Financial Assets $ $
Cash and cash equivalents  2,588,557  3,180,191 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents  354,678  67,494 
Receivables (i)  457,718  467,203 

Financial Liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost  477,768  675,481 

(i) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

(c) Financial instrument disclosures

Credit risk
The following table discloses the Corporation’s maximum exposure to credit risk and the ageing 
analysis of financial assets. The Corporation’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the 
reporting period is the carrying amount of financial assets as shown below. The table discloses 
the ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired and impaired financial assets. 
The table is based on information provided to senior management of the Corporation. 

The Corporation does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancement 
relating to the financial assets it holds.

Ageing analysis of financial assets
Past due but not impaired

 Carrying 
amount 

Not past 
due 

and not 
impaired

Up to 1 
month

1-3 
months

3 months to 
1 year

Impaired 
financial 

assets
$ $ $ $ $ $

2013 
Cash at bank  2,088,007  2,088,007 0 0  0 0
Cash investments  500,000  500,000 0 0  0 0
Cash on hand  550  550 0 0  0 0
Restricted cash  
at bank 

 354,678  354,678 0 0  0 0

Receivables (a)  78,718  78,601 0  117  0 0
Amount receivable  
for services 

 379,000  379,000 0  0  0 0

 3,400,953  3,400,836 0  117  0  0 

2012 
Cash at bank  2,679,641  2,679,641 0  0  0 0
Cash investments  500,000  500,000 0  0  0 0
Cash on hand  550 550 0  0  0 0
Restricted cash at 
bank 

 67,494  67,494 0  0  0 0

Receivables (a)  117,203  116,909 0  0  294 0
Amount receivable  
for services 

 350,000  350,000 0  0  0 0

 3,714,888  3,714,594 0  0  294  0 

(a) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).
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Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure
The following table details the Corporation’s interest rate exposure and the contractual maturity analysis of 
financial assets and financial liabilities. The maturity analysis section includes interest and principal cash 
flows. The interest rate exposure section analyses only the carrying amounts of each item.

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities

Interest rate exposure Maturity dates

Weighted average  
effective 

 interest rate

 Variable 
 interest 

rate 

 Non-
interest 
 bearing 

 3 
months 

to 1 year 
Carrying 
 amount 

Nominal 
amount

 Up to 1 
 month 

 1-5 
 years 

% $ $ $ $ $ $ $
2013 
Financial Assets
Cash at bank 3.40 2,088,007 2,088,007  0 2,088,007 2,088,007  0  0 
Cash investments 3.40  500,000  500,000  0  500,000  500,000  0  0 
Cash on hand  550  0  550  550  550  0  0 
Restricted cash  
at bank 

3.40  354,678  354,678 0  354,678  354,678  0  0 

Receivables (a)  78,718  0  78,718  78,718  78,718  0  0 
Amount receivable 
for services 

 379,000  0  379,000  379,000  0  60,000  319,000 

3,400,953 2,942,685  458,268 3,400,953 3,021,953  60,000  319,000 

Financial Liabilities
Payables  477,768  0  477,768  477,768  477,768  0  0 

 477,768  0  477,768  477,768  477,768  0  0 
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2012 
Financial Assets
Cash at bank 4.74 2,679,641 2,679,641  0 2,679,641  

2,679,641 
 0  0 

Cash investments 4.74  500,000  500,000  0  500,000  500,000  0  0 
Cash on hand  550  0  550  550  550  0  0 
Restricted cash  
at bank 

4.74  67,494  67,494  0  67,494  67,494  0  0 

Receivables (a)  117,203  0 117,203  117,203  117,203  0  0 
Amount receivable 
for services 

 350,000  0 350,000  350,000  0 60,000 290,000 

3,714,888 3,247,135 467,753 3,714,888 3,364,888 60,000 290,000 

Financial Liabilities

Payables  675,481  0 675,481  675,481  675,481  0  0 
 675,481  0 675,481  675,481  675,481  0  0 

(a) The amount of receivables excludes GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).

Interest rate exposure Maturity dates

Weighted average  
effective 

 interest rate

 Variable 
 interest 

rate 

 Non-
interest 
 bearing 

 3 
months 

to 1 year 
Carrying 
 amount 

Nominal 
amount

 Up to 1 
 month 

 1-5 
 years 

% $ $ $ $ $ $ $
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Interest rate sensitivity analysis
The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the Corporation’s financial 
assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period on the surplus for the period and equity for a 1% 
change in interest rates. It is assumed that the change in interest rates is held constant throughout the 
reporting period. 

-100 basis points +100 basis points
Carrying
amount Surplus Equity Surplus Equity

2013 $ $ $ $ $
Financial Assets
 Cash at bank  2,088,007 (20,880) (20,880)  20,880  20,880 
 Cash investments  500,000 (5,000) (5,000)  5,000  5,000 
 Restricted cash at bank  354,678 (3,547) (3,547)  3,547  3,547 

(29,427) (29,427)  29,427  29,427 

2012
Financial Assets
 Cash at bank  2,679,641 (26,796) (26,796)  26,796  26,796 
 Cash investments  500,000 (5,000) (5,000)  5,000  5,000 
 Restricted cash at bank  67,494 (675) (675)  675  675 

(32,471) (32,471)  32,471  32,471 

Fair Values
All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position, whether they are 
carried at cost or fair value, are recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable approximation of 
fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes. 
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Note 37. Explanatory Statement

Significant variations between estimates and actual results for 2013 and between the actual 
results for 2012 and 2013 are shown below.  Significant variations are considered to be 
those greater than 5% and at least $15,000. 
(a) Significant variances between estimated and actual result for 2013 

2013 2013
 Estimate  Actual 

 $  $ 
Expenses

Employee benefits expenses  5,994,000  5,566,000 
The variance is due to a number of positions remaining 
vacant for part of the year.

Supplies and services  1,187,000  2,362,000 
Additional expense in professional services and legal fees 
in relation to the Royalties for Regions program and the 
subcontrator investigation respectively.  There is also an 
increase in services provided by Department of Finance 
in relation to office accommodation during the year.

Other expenses  667,000  603,000 
The variance is due to a reduction in advertising, 
marketing and promotional activity with the Alternative 
Dispute Resolution Service.

 Income 
Other revenue  30,000  141,000 
This represents an increase in interest revenue due to a 
higher than expected cash balance at bank.

Income from State Government
Services received free of charge  0  176,000 
This represents notional value of services provided by 
Department of Finance and Department of Attorney 
General in relation to office accommodation and legal 
advice respectively. 

Royalties for regions fund  0  450,000 
The funds are allocated to a Buy Local program in 
regional Western Australia.
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(b) Significant variances between actual results for 2012 and 2013  
2013 2012 

 $  $ 
Expenses

Supplies and services  3,499,540  3,768,459 
Reduction in advertising for the Alternative Dispute 
Resolution service plus travel and accommodation expenses 
in relation to the cessation of  the BIZFIT small business 
resilience program and the Tourism Boost program.  

Depreciation and amortisation expense  78,612  62,249 
The increase relates to purchase of new computer 
equipment and various computer software during the year.

Communications expense  117,628  100,941 
Increase in communications expense with  
additional telephone line rental for the Small Business 
Centre Network.

Grants and subsidies  3,654,711  4,084,083 
Decrease in grant expenses relate to the winding up of 
the Drought Relief Program and ceasing of the Margaret 
River Fire Relief Grant in 2012/13. 

Income
User charges and fees  218,079  314,648 
A reduction in business migration application fees and 
fees for the Indian Ocean Territories Service Delivery 
Arrangement during the year has resulted in decreased 
user fees and charges.

Grants and contributions  288,000  629,000 
This represents once-off funding of $350,000 from the 
Department of Agriculture and Food for the Drought 
Relief Program in 2011/12.

Interest revenue  110,051  126,739 
An decrease in interest revenue has resulted from lower 
interest rates and a lower cash at bank balance.

Other revenue  30,815  218,617 
This represents the finalisation of funding from Tourism 
WA ($150,000) to assist with programs relating to 
mainstream tourism aspirants in 2011/12.
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2013 2012
 $  $

Income from State Government
Service appropriation  11,908,000  12,751,000 
Decrease in service appropriation is due to once-off 
funding for the voluntary severance scheme in 2011/12 
and a deferral of appropriation drawdown from 2010/11 
to 2011/12.  In addition, there has been a Full Time 
Equivalent and associated salary expense reduction 
imposed by Department of Treasury. 

Services received free of charge  176,461  140,761 
This represents an increase in the cost of services 
provided by Department of Finance and Department of 
Attorney General in relation to office accommodation and 
legal advice respectively. 

Royalties for Regions fund  450,000  0 
The funds are allocated to a Buy Local program in 
regional Western Australia.

Note 38. Events Occurring after the end of the reporting period
There has not arisen in the interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this 
report any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature likely in the opinion of 
the directors of the Corporation to affect significantly the operations of the Corporation, the 
results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the Corporation, in future years.
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Other Financial Disclosures
Internal audit
The SBDC outsources its internal audit 
function which focuses on the effectiveness 
of the key processes and controls in order 
to satisfy the compliance requirements of 
the Financial Management Act 2006 and 
applicable Treasurer’s Instructions. The 
audit program provides assurance to the 
SBDC Board and Management regarding the 

quality, reliability, adequacy and integrity of 
the systems of internal control, compliance  
and reporting.

In addition, for 2012-13, external auditors 
were engaged under contract to undertake 
a series of audits focusing on the transition 
from Shared Services. Independent 
assurance of the project was provided by  
way of four audits:

Audit Phase Scope

1 - Project Governance Review into the integrity of governance structure, project 
management, project status reporting and project approval 
processes.

2 - Data Migration Examination of controls to ensure data migration and 
reconciliation processes are accurate and complete.

3 - ICT Security Review of hardware, software and system support security.

4 - Control Points Pre-implementation review of system and process controls.

Pricing policies
Commencing in 2011-12, the SBDC 
introduced an Alternative Dispute Resolution 
(ADR) mediation fee. Section 15(G) of the 
Small Business Development Corporation Act 
1983 provides for costs of an ADR mediation 
proceeding to include the fees and expenses 
of the facilitator, which will be determined by 
the Small Business Commissioner. Further, 
the costs of the ADR mediation proceeding 
are to be paid by the parties in equal shares 
or, with the approval of the Commissioner, as 
otherwise agreed by the parties. The fee for 
disputing parties is set at $125 per party to the 
ADR mediation and will represent a partial cost 
recovery for Government. The total cost of the 
ADR mediation is currently set at $900 with 
the SBDC subsidising the difference between 
the ADR mediation cost ($900) and fees 
received ($250). Given that there will usually 

be only two parties to an ADR mediation, the 
Government subsidy will most often amount to 
$650 per dispute. 

In 2009-10, application fees were introduced for 
business migrants seeking State sponsorship 
to relocate to Western Australia. The fees were 
established on the basis of:

•	 part cost recovery, and
•	 ensuring only genuine business migrants 

intending to come to Western Australia are 
applying for State sponsorship. 

The fee also acts to discourage multiple 
applications from business migrants to state 
and territory governments around Australia.

The SBDC’s fees and charges are reviewed 
annually as part of the budget process.
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Finance and Audit Management 
Committee (FAMC)
The FAMC comprises up to three Board 
members, the Small Business Commissioner 
and the Director Corporate Resources (Chief 
Finance Officer). The primary functions of the 
FAMC are to:

•	 report to the Board and provide appropriate 
advice and recommendations on matters 
relating to accounting practices, internal 

control and financial risk management; and
•	 review and make recommendations to the 

Board in respect to the annual budget.
During 2012-13 the FAMC met on two 
occasions with a particular emphasis on 
the management of risks associated with 
the transition from Shared Services and the 
effective implementation of suitable financial 
management and human resource/payroll 
systems. 

Outcome-based management framework
Government goal: Financial and economic responsibility – Responsibly managing the State’s 
finances through the efficient and effective delivery of services, encouraging economic activity 
and reducing regulatory burdens on the private sector.

Desired 
outcome

Effectiveness 
indicators

Service Efficiency indicators 

Development 
of new and 
existing small 
business 
in Western 
Australia.

The extent to 
which clients 
rate the 
usefulness of 
the information 
and guidance 
provided to 
them.

Information, 
guidance, 
referral and 
business 
development 
services.

Average cost per direct client 
contact.

Average cost per indirect client 
contact.

Average cost per Small Business 
Centre client contact.

Cost per unit of policy advice.

Changes to outcome based management framework
The SBDC’s outcome based management framework did not change during the reporting period.

Shared responsibility with other agencies
The SBDC did not share any responsibilities with other agencies in 2012-13.
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FINANCIAL TARGETS

2012-13 (1) 
Target 
$’000

2012-13 
Actual 
$’000

Variation  
(2) 

$’000

Total cost of services (expense limit) 

(Sourced from Statement of  
Comprehensive Income)

12,634 13,281 647(a)

Net cost of services 

(Sourced from Statement of  
Comprehensive Income)

12,083 12,618 535(b)

Total equity

(Sourced from Statement of  
Financial Position)

1021 2,004 983(c)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash held.

(Sourced from Statement of Cashflows)

(92) (304) 212 

Approved Full Time Equivalent  
(FTE) Staff Level 

58 52 6(d)

(1)	 As specified in the 2012-13 Budget Statements (Budget Paper No 2 Volume 2) pages 471-478

(2) 	 Further explanations are also contained in Note 37 “Explanatory Statement” to the 
financial statements on page 97.

(a) 	 The variance relates to additional expense for a Royalties for Region funded Buy Local 
program established after the finalisation of the 2012/13 budget together with costs for the 
decommissioning from shared services.

(b) 	 Offset against the variance in (a) above is higher than expected interest revenue. 

(c) 	 The variation is due mainly to a greater than expected surplus from the previous year.

(d) 	 The variance relates to an FTE ceiling reduction applied during the reporting period together 
with a number of positions remaining vacant throughout.

http://www.treasury.wa.gov.au/cms/uploadedFiles/State_Budget/Budget_2012_13/2012-13_budgetpaperno2_v2.pdf
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Governance Disclosures 
Enabling legislation
The Small Business Development Corporation 
Act 1983 makes provision for the establishment 
of the Small Business Development 
Corporation to encourage, promote, facilitate 
and assist the establishment, development 
and carrying on of small business in the State 
and for incidental and other purposes.

SBDC Board
The SBDC is governed by a Board, drawn 
from the private sector under the auspices of 
the Small Business Development Corporation 
Act 1983. The eight-member SBDC Board 
meets on a monthly basis to consider issues 
relevant to the direction and operation of the 
Corporation. 

There are currently two (2) vacancies on the 
Board, which are in the process of being filled.

Membership as at 30 June 2013 comprised:

Ray Mountney
Joined the SBDC Board in August 2009. In 
June 2010, Ray was appointed to the role 
of Chairman of the Board. As owner and 
Managing Director of Fennessy Holden and 
Nissan in Busselton, he has served as State 
delegate to the National Franchise Councils 
of Holden and Nissan. Ray has also been 
active within the broader community of the 
South West, holding executive positions with 
the Busselton Chamber of Commerce and the 
Small Business Centre Vasse. 

Steven Dobson
Appointed to the Board in September 2012. 
Steven is a partner and senior financial planner 
in a family operated business. He has over 
twelve years experience in corporate financial 
planning, particularly for small and medium 

sized businesses. Steven has a Bachelor of 
Business (Financial Planning) from RMIT 
University, Melbourne and strong community 
experience as Chair of the Management 
Committee at the Jandakot Volunteer Bushfire 
Brigade and board member of the Kids are 
Kids Therapy and Education Centre.

Jeff Healy
Appointed to the Board in September 2012. 
Jeff is founder and owner of a marketing 
consultancy in Perth specialising in direct 
marketing. Jeff has had an extensive career in 
sales, marketing and retail including a period 
with Australia Post as Change Management 
Lead, State Retail Manager and Marketing 
Manager.

Sonia McKeiver
Appointed to the Board in September 2012. 
Sonia has degrees in law and economics from 
the University of Queensland, as well as broad 
experience in investigations, compliance and 
dispute resolution gained through her roles as 
compliance officer with the Financial Services 
Authority in London, and case manager with the 
Financial Ombudsman Service in Melbourne.

Caterina (Kitty) Prodonovich
Appointed to the Board in May 2008 and 
commenced in September 2008. Kitty has 
owned and operated a number of small 
businesses, including two award winning café/
restaurants in the Goldfields. She has received 
the Goldfields Young Achiever Award and 
was winner of the 2002 Goldfields Business 
of the Year. She was the youngest executive 
member of the Kalgoorlie Boulder Chamber of 
Commerce and Industry and is a past president. 
Kitty is currently Chief Executive Officer of the 
Regional Chambers of Commerce and Industry 
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in Western Australia.

David Eaton (ex officio)
Appointed Western Australia’s first Small 
Business Commissioner and CEO of the Small 
Business Development Corporation (SBDC) 
in December 2011. David has extensive 
management experience, beginning his career 
as a business owner, growing a small clothing 
and textile operation into a large manufacturing 
business, wholesaling and retailing throughout 
Australia. Before joining the SBDC, David was 
a senior executive with Australia Post. He is a 
Graduate Member of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors.

Mark Irwin (resigned 6 June 2013)
Appointed to the Board in September 2011, 
resigned in June 2013. Mark is a successful 
small business owner with two businesses 
in Perth and is an active member of Surf Life 
Saving Western Australia as WA President, 
Director of Surf Life Saving Australia, and 
member of the National Board of Development, 
Surf Life Saving Australia.

Functions of the Board
As the SBDC’s governing body, the Board 
has responsibility for performing the functions 
set out in the Small Business Development 
Corporation Act 1983.

The SBDC Board has four strategic roles:

•	 direction of the organisation;
•	 determination of standards;
•	 coordination of planning, policies, and 

decision-making frameworks; and
•	 acting in an advisory capacity to the 

Minister, the Government and other 
agencies.

Operational roles of the Board include:

•	 setting strategies;
•	 focusing on client service and customer 

needs;
•	 striving for organisational best practice 

and compliance with standards; and
•	 delegation of operational decision-

making to officers within the SBDC.
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Attendance at meetings

Board member No of meetings 12/13 Actual meetings attended

Mr Ray Mountney 11 11

Mr Steven Dobson7 9 8

Mr Jeffrey Healy8 9 9

Mr Mark Irwin9 10 9

Ms Sonia McKeiver10 9 9

Mr Brent Pollard11 3 3

Ms Caterina Prodonovich 11 10

Mr David Eaton 11 11

Terms of appointment

Members current as at 30 June 2013

Name Initially appointed Term expires

Mr Ray Mountney 03/08/2009 30/09/2014

Mr Steven Dobson 10/09/2012 30/09/2015

Mr Jeffrey Healy 10/09/2012 30/09/2015

Ms Sonia McKeiver 10/09/2012 30/09/2015

Ms Caterina Prodonovich 12/05/2008 30/09/2014

Directors and Officers liability insurance
The SBDC takes out Directors and Officers liability insurance through Riskcover to provide cover for 
members of the Board. The policy has an indemnity limit of $10,000,000 and for 2012-13 the total cost 
was $6669 with individual Board members making a personal contribution to the premium. 

7 Appointed 10 September 2012

8 Appointed 10 September 2012

9 Resigned 6 June 2013

10 Appointed 10 September 2012

11 Term expired 30 September 2012
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Other Legal Requirements
Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 
outcomes
The SBDC is driven by the premise that creating 
a community which is accessible and inclusive 
will help to minimise the impacts of disability. The 
Corporation’s Disability Access and Inclusion 
Plan (DAIP) expired at the end of 2011. The 
review and development of a new DAIP was 
facilitated by the Human Resources Coordinator 
to further the commitment to accessible services 
and facilities and to comply with the objectives 
of the Disability Services Act 1993 (amended in 
2004). 

Outcome1: People with disabilities have 
the same opportunities as other people 
to access the services of, and any events 
organised by, the SBDC.

•	 Ensure all events organised by  
SBDC are planned in accordance  
with the Disability Service Commission’s 
Creating Accessible Events checklist. 
Make it available to all staff to ensure 
events are accessible to people with 
disabilities. 

•	 Incorporate DAIP strategies into the 
Corporation’s business and strategic 
planning. Be raised for discussion at 
Executive meetings when required. 

•	 Contractors who provide a service on 
behalf of SBDC continue to be made 
aware of the DAIP to ensure they 
conduct their business in accordance 
with the outcomes. All contractors will 
also continue to undergo an induction on 
commencement. 

Outcome 2. People with disabilities have 
the same opportunities as other people to 
access the buildings and other facilities  
of the SBDC.

•	 Ensure the Corporation’s facilities are 
located to maximise ease of access 
and to promote inclusion within the 
community. 

•	 Review emergency evacuation procedures 
for the building to ensure people with 
disabilities are accounted for. 

•	 Contractors who provide a service on 
behalf of SBDC continue to be made 
aware of the DAIP to ensure they 
conduct their business in accordance 
with the outcomes. All contractors will 
also continue to undergo an induction on 
commencement. 

Outcome 3. People with disabilities receive 
the same level of information from the 
Corporation in a format that will enable 
them to access information as readily as 
other people. 

•	 Improve community awareness that the 
Corporation’s information is available in 
alternative formats upon request. 

•	 Ensure all staff are aware information 
can be provided in alternative formats. 

•	 Continue to ensure that the review and 
updates to the Corporation’s website 
meets the needs of people with disabilities 
by complying with the W3C Guidelines 
and incorporating new techniques when 
they become available. 

•	 Review and update the SBDC’s Language 
Services Policy so that it includes the 
provision of Auslan. Ensure staff are aware 
of the process in engaging an Auslan 
interpreter if required. 
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Outcome 4. People with disabilities receive 
the same level and quality of service from 
SBDC staff as other people receive. 

•	 Provide a link to the Disability Services 
Commission’s website and all relevant 
resources, including access checklists, 
guidelines for accessible formats and other 
information available on the extranet. 

•	 Ensure that the Corporation’s induction for 
new staff members includes information 
regarding disability and access issues, 
including the Access Awareness video that 
identifies common barriers.

•	 Ensure all staff have the knowledge and 
skills to provide quality services for people 
with disability, their families and carers. 

Outcome 5. People with disabilities have 
the same opportunities as other people to 
make complaints to the SBDC.

•	 Review existing complaint mechanisms 
to ensure they meet the needs of people 
with disabilities. 

•	 Provide information and guidance to staff 
on the appropriate application in handling 
complaints from people with disabilities. 

•	 Ensure the Corporation’s complaints 
procedures are made available in flexible 
and accessible formats. 

Outcome 6. People with disabilities have 
the same opportunities as other people to 
participate in any public consultation by 
the SBDC.

•	 Increase the community’s knowledge of 
the Corporation’s consultation processes 
and opportunities and develop proactive 
initiatives to encourage feedback.

•	 Ensure consultation documents are 
available in alternative formats on request. 

Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO)
The SBDC seeks to maintain a workforce, in 
alignment with the Public Sector Commission’s 
publication; Strategic Directions for the Public 
Sector Workforce 2009 – 2014, to enable the 
delivery of quality services to our clients. The 
following are the priority outcome areas for our 
Workforce and Diversity Management Plan 
2011 – 2014:

•	 attract a skilled workforce;
•	 retain valued employees;
•	 strengthen the workplace culture so that 

it is equitable, vibrant and positive;
•	 build the capacity of the SBDC’s 

workforce;
•	 provide strategic leadership and ensure 

we are customer driven; and
•	 ensure an efficient and flexible high 

performing workforce. 
Under each of these outcome areas, initiatives 
are included to achieve the following three high-
level outcomes relating to equal employment 
opportunities:

•	 the Corporation values EEO/diversity 
and the work environment is free from all 
forms of harassment;

•	 the workplace is free from employment 
practices that are biased or discriminate 
unlawfully against employees or potential 
employees; and

•	 employment programs and practices 
recognise and include strategies to 
achieve workforce diversity.
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Compliance with public sector 
standards and ethical codes 
The SBDC has complied with Section 31  
of the Public Sector Management Act in  
the administration of the its human resource 
management practices relating to the  
public sector standards and codes of  
ethics and conduct.

During 2012-13 the SBDC received no 
breach claims against any of the public sector 
standards and no reports of non compliance 
with the Western Australian Code of Ethics or 
its own code of conduct. 

The SBDC is pleased to maintain this 
standard of compliance due to the following 
measurements:

•	 Quality feedback is provided to applicants 
as part of all recruitment processes

•	 Training is provided to panel members 
by accredited providers underpinned by 
the provision of recruitment guidelines 
specific to the Corporation. 

•	 Information about Public Sector Standards 
are included on the Corporation’s website 
and covered at inductions. 

•	 Employees commencing and leaving the 
Corporation are surveyed on all aspects 
of their employment including questions 
relating to staff behaving in accordance 
with the Code of Conduct. 

•	 All employees participate in Accountable 
and Ethical Decision Making training by 
accredited training providers. 

The Corporation’s Code of Conduct was 
reviewed during the year to ensure it was 
aligned to the Commissioner’s Instruction: 
Code of Ethics and Codes of Conduct and 
Integrity Training. It was also updated to reflect 
the Corporation’s revised vision and values 
developed through the strategic planning 
process. 

Corruption prevention
The SBDC is committed to the highest level 
of integrity, ethics and equity and corruption 
prevention forms part of the overall risk 
management strategy as an important element 
of internal control. 

Staff and members of the Board are 
regularly briefed on a range of statutory and 
administrative requirements relating to ethical 
conduct including the requirement to declare 
conflicts of interest. A comprehensive induction 
program, the inclusion of policies on the 
extranet, and regular internal communications 
also seek to ensure that all staff are aware of, 
and understand, their responsibilities. 

Recordkeeping plan
The SBDC’s recordkeeping plan was approved 
in April 2010.

Review of the efficiency and effectiveness of 
recordkeeping systems is ongoing. Changes 
continue to be made in some areas of the 
SBDC recordkeeping practices, and are 
resulting in considerable benefits in the overall 
discovery and management of records created 
and captured.

During 2012-13, the SBDC continued to 
maintain an effective recordkeeping training 
program. All new staff and contractors received 
comprehensive training at induction, detailing 
policies and procedures, and outlining their 
recordkeeping responsibilities. Additional training 
and materials are made available to employees 
on request and can be tailored to meet specific 
needs. The effectiveness of recordkeeping 
training is monitored on an ongoing basis to 
ensure that it meets the needs of both the SBDC 
and the State Records Office.

Records management staff have continued their 
professional development through attendance 
at information networking opportunities and 
structured information management training.
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Advertising expenditure
In accordance with Section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, set out below are details of expenditure 
incurred during the 2012-13 financial year in relation to: 

Market Research Organisations $19,466.71

Advantage Communications $19,466.71

Advertising Agencies $165,364.13

Adcorp Marketing $15,864.83

Mitchell & Partners Australia $149,499.30

Polling Organisation Nil

Direct Mail Organisations $19,197.82

Australia Post $5,251.58

Monkey Logic $13,946.24

Total expenditure for 2012-13 $204,028.66
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Legislation Impacting on Activity
In the performance of its functions, the SBDC 
complies with the following legislation:

•	 A New Tax System (Goods and Services) 
Act 1999 (Cth)

•	 Auditor General Act 2006
•	 Business Names Act 1962
•	 Business Names (Commonwealth Powers) 

Act 2012
•	 Business Names Registration Act 2011 (Cth)
•	 Copyright Act 1968 (Cth)
•	 Commercial Tenancy (Retail Shops) 

Agreements Act 1985
•	 Corporations (Western Australia) Act 1990
•	 Corruption and Crime Commission Act 2003
•	 Criminal Code Act Compilation Act 1913
•	 Disability Services Act 1993
•	 Electoral Act 1907
•	 Electronic Transaction Act 2011
•	 Equal Opportunity Act 1984
•	 Evidence Act 1906
•	 Evidence Act 1995 (Cth)
•	 Financial Management Act 2006 
•	 Freedom of Information Act 1992
•	 Fringe Benefits Tax Act 1986 (Cth)
•	 Income Tax Assessment Act 1936 (Cth)
•	 Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 (Cth)
•	 Industrial Relations Act 1979
•	 Legal Deposit Act 2012
•	 Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993
•	 Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984
•	 Pay-roll Tax Act 2002
•	 Pay-roll Tax Assessment Act 2002
•	 Privacy Act 1988 (Cth)
•	 Public and Bank Holidays Act 1972
•	 Public Interest Disclosure Act 2003
•	 Public Sector Management Act 1994
•	 Small Business Development Corporation 

Act 1983
•	 Spam Act 2003 (Cth)

•	 State Records Act 2000
•	 State Superannuation Act 2000
•	 State Supply Commission Act 1991
•	 State Trading Concerns Act 1916
•	 Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) 

Act 1992 (Cth)
•	 Taxation Administration Act 2003
•	 Treasurer’s Instructions 804 and 805
•	 Workers’ Compensation and Injury 

Management Act 1981
•	 State Administrative Tribunal Act 2004 (WA)
Cth = Commonwealth Acts
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Government Policy Requirements
Publications
The Small Business Development Corporation 
(SBDC) publishes a wide range of books and 
periodicals, in hard copy and electronic format. 
These publications are listed below:

•	 Annual reports – Each financial year 
the SBDC produces an Annual Report 
to highlight its business and financial 
activities. Electronic (PDF) copies of 
the reports from 1999 onwards can be 
downloaded from the SBDC website.

•	 Books – Hard copies of the SBDC books 
can be purchased via the SBDC online 
bookshop or directly from the Business 
Information Centre.

•	 Media releases – The SBDC regularly 
produces media releases to inform the 
small business sector on topical issues. 
Media releases from 2009 onwards are 
available to view on the SBDC website 
under “Media Centre”.

•	 Small Business Briefs and BizGuides 
- Small Business Briefs and BizGuides 
provide information in electronic (PDF) 
and hard copy format. They are available 
from the Business Information Centre or 
from the SBDC website at no charge and 
can be downloaded to print or view.

•	 E-news – The SBDC produces a bi-
monthly e-newsletter, which contains 
relevant business and SBDC updates. It 
is available by free subscription. Copies 
of the e-newsletter can be obtained by 
contacting the Information Coordinator.
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Appendix 1
Stakeholder representation and collaboration
The SBDC is a strong advocate for the Western 
Australian small business sector across a 
broad range of State and Federal Government 
working groups collaborating on key small 
business issues. Such representation provides 
a coordinated policy response and ensures the 
interests of Western Australian businesses are 
represented:

•	 Small Business Officials Group, which 
encompasses project-specific working 
groups for Indigenous small business 
enterprise development (chaired by the 
SBDC), national retail tenancy reforms 
and small business statistics;

•	 National Small Business Continuity 
Planning Project group;

•	 Australian Competition and Consumer 
Commission’s Small Business 
Consultative Committee and Franchising 
Committee ;

•	 Equal Consulting Assurance Committee;
•	 Small Business Commissioners’ Group;
•	 Communications Forum for the 

Australian Business Number / Business 
Names Registration Project; and

•	 The Department of Environment and 
Conservation’s Environmental Regulation 
Stakeholder Reference Group.

•	 Department of Agriculture, 
•	 Ignition program; Curtin Centre for 

Entrepreneurship (C4E),
•	 National Small Business Continuity 

Planning Project Group,
•	 Consumer Protection Division of the 

Department of Commerce
•	 Chamber of Commerce and Industry 

Western Australia (CCIWA) and its 
small business entity Small Enterprise 
Network (SEN): 

The SBDC has also formed a number of 
strategic alliances with other stakeholders 
in the development and delivery of services, 
support and programs to the State’s small 
business sector:

•	 Tourism WA, business-related Award 
program;

•	 Ignition program; Curtin Centre for 
Entrepreneurship (C4E);

•	 Women in Entrepreneurship;
•	 Department of State Development, 

International Trade and Investment;
•	 Migration Institute of Australia (WA 

Branch);
•	 Western Australian Chinese Chamber  

of Commerce; and
•	 Department of Immigration and 

Citizenship.
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Industry Link
As described on page 19, Industry Link Program 2013 projects completed between 27 February 
and 30 June 2013 include:

Date Organisation Event Details Total

February LotteryWest, and Office of 
Crime Prevention

Seminar Store security, 
cash control 

workshop

20

March Shire of Irwin, Dongara, Port 
Denison Visitors Centre

Resources  
provided

Tourism BOOST 
booklets

25

March Penrhos College Workshop Starting a 
business – 

Finance Students

30

March Town of Victoria Park and 
City of Belmont

Resources/  
web links

For a business 
disaster plan

0

April TAFE Workshop Starting a 
business

17

May Dept of Health -  
Nurse Practitioners

Workshop Becoming a 
contractor

20

May Dept State Dev, Dept 
of Commerce, Office of 

Women’s Interests

Inspiring 
Entrepreneurship-

Celebrating Women 
in Enterprise

Sponsorship/ 
Luncheon

200

May Telstra Small Business 
Awards

Judging – 4 major 
WA categories

Judging and site 
visits

78

June Real Estate Institute of WA Careers event Seminar –  
SBDC services

36

June Stanley International 
College

BizBasics  
workshop

Hospitality 
Management 

students

18

June Master Builders Assoc. Building  
Business Series

BizBasics 
workshop 

for final year 
apprentices

5

TOTAL – 27 February to 30 June 2013: 449
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